
 

 

 

CABINET 
 

4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 24TH MARCH, 2021 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  

  
This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 

 
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being 

filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined 
above. 

 

 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department.  An item is 
subject to call-in within 5 working days from the date a decision is published unless 

reference to an item’s urgency is made at the time the decision is made.  Any member 
of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685 725284) or email 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

OPEN SESSION 

Strategic 

3. Annual Equality Report 2019/20   

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

5 - 46 

Portfolio 

4. Future Commitment to Delivering Shared Regional 
Education Advisory Services For Children And 
Young People With A Sensory Impairment  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

47 - 92 

5. National Fostering Framework - Regional Working   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

93 - 102 

Information Reports 

6. Direct Payments Scheme   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

103 - 106 

7. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 
 
 
 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors     L Mytton (Chair) 

                       C Davies (Vice-Chair)  
  
 Councillors     A Barry, D Hughes, G Thomas and 

T Rogers 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Annual Equality Report for 2019-2020 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 were 

approved by Council on 23rd March 2016. 
 
1.2 In addition to preparing a Strategic Equality Plan, the Equality Act 2010 and Public 

Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to prepare and publish an annual 
report every year noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including 
progress on delivering its Equality Objectives. 

 

1.3 Through the Strategic Equality Plan and it’s Equality Objectives the Annual Equality 
Report for 2019-2020, attached as Appendix 1, is testament to the Council’s ongoing 
drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver our Equalities Vision for Merthyr 
Tydfil. 

 

1.4 The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives support the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives, the seven national Well-being Goals and link to the five ways of working 
(the Sustainable Development Principle) that are set out in the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

1.5 This report looks back at 2019/20. Good progress has been made against the 
actions in the Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020.  

 

Date Written 4th March 2021 

Report Author Amii Cooper / Lorna Townsend 

Service Area Corporate Services 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 24th March 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2019-2020 be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Equality Act 2010 
 
3.1 The Equality Act 2010 brings together and replaces the previous anti-

discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, 
removes inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and 
comply with it. The majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010. 
 

3.2 The Act includes a public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing 
the separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into 
force on 5th April 2011. 

 

3.3 The general duty covers the following protected characteristics: 
 

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender Reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnerships 

 Pregnancy and Maternity 

 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 

 Religion or belief – including lack of belief 

 Sex (Gender) 

 Sexual orientation 
 

3.4 It also applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the 
requirement to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination. 
 

3.5 The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those 
carrying out a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a 
fairer society through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-
day activities. The duty ensures that equality considerations are built into the 
design of policies and the delivery of services, and that they are kept under 
review. This will achieve better outcomes for all. 

 

3.6 Public bodies are required to have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct that is prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 

Page 6



Specific duties in Wales 
 

3.7 The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 
Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011, and are there to help listed bodies in their 
performance of the general duty and to aid transparency. The specific duties 
in Wales came into force on 6th April 2011 and included a requirement for 
listed bodies to develop and publish a Strategic Equality Plan that contains 
Equality Objectives at least every four years. 
 

3.8 An Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was developed in order to set out the 
Council’s ambition to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality 
and foster good relations. The Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil is: 

 

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free 
from discrimination and prejudice. 

 
3.9 This Vision has been supported by the following four Equality Objectives 

(listed in the table below) that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2016-2020. The Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved 
by Council on 23rd March 2016. 
 
 

Themes Equality Objectives 

Community 
Engagement 

Equality Objective 1 
Put Citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that 
their contribution is understood, recognised and used to help 
the Council understand and respond to the needs of its 
communities. 

Equality 
Awareness 
Raising 

Equality Objective 2 
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners 
recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role. 

 
Understanding 
our Staff and 
Communities 

Equality Objective 3 
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor 
and publish equalities data on our employees and customers, 
which will help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and 
accessible services. 

 
Gender/Equal 
Pay 

Equality Objective 4  
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Annual Reporting 
 
3.10   The Council is required to prepare and publish an annual report noting 

progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including progress on 
delivering its Equality Objectives. 

 

4.0 ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT FOR 2019-2020 
 
4.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2019-2020 is attached as Appendix 1. 

Some of the key points to note from the report include the following: 
 

LGBTQ+ 
 

 This was the sixth year that the Rainbow and Transgender flags were raised 
outside the Civic Centre to celebrate Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
(LGBT) History month as part of the Council’s commitment to supporting and 
engaging with the LGBTQ+ community within Merthyr Tydfil.  

 

 The Council was proud to actively take part in Pride Cymru in August 2019 for 
the fourth consecutive year. MTCBC and other Council’s in South Wales are 
part of the ‘Proud Councils’ network, which involves working in a visible and 
unified way to support and promote equality for LGBTQ+ communities. All 
‘Proud Councils’ marched together in the parade to visibly show their 
commitment and support. ‘Proud Councils’ also had a stall over the weekend 
long event, engaging with visitors to discuss how Councils can improve upon 
service delivery, access and inclusion, and prevent discrimination for the 
LGBTQ+ community. 

 
Welsh Language  
 

 A Welsh language customer telephone and greeting training course has been 
developed. The aim of the course is to upskill MTCBC staff to support the 
Council’s provision of Welsh language services to the communities of Merthyr 
Tydfil. During 2019-2020, thirteen members of front-line staff received this 
training.  This has been enhanced with our Customer Service Agents 
undertaking Level 1 Welsh. As part of the ongoing upskilling of staff the 
Council will continue to roll out this training as part of the Council’s training 
programme for Welsh language. 

 

 MTCBC has received positive feedback from the Welsh Language 
Commissioner in the report ‘Rights in use The Welsh Language 
Commissioner’s assurance report 2018-19’.  MTCBC is recognised for the 
good work undertaken with partners including the work we have done with the 
local Menter Iaith and our work experience and further opportunities; “Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC is working with the Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol to identify 
opportunities for similar work in future.” 

 

 
 
 

Page 8



Insport 
 

 MTCBC is currently an Insport Silver Local Authority in the Disability Sport 
Wales programme and throughout 2019-2020 we have continued to work 
towards the Gold level. Merthyr Tydfil is one of only two Local Authorities in 
Wales to have presented to the Insport Gold pre-panel to set our their 
priorities for their submission. 
 

 We continue to support a number of local clubs to work through their relevant 
Insport levels, ensuring there is a range of inclusive opportunities across the 
County Borough. We also continued to pilot the Insport education programme 
with Disability Sport Wales; the only Local Authority in Wales to do so. 

. 
Hate Crime/Discrimination 

 

 We continue to regularly engage with groups vulnerable to harassment and/or 
experiencing community tensions, especially in relation to Brexit. Groups such 
as EU citizens, BAME communities and other protected characteristic groups. 
We have been working with partner agencies to conduct mapping exercises, 
to understand the communities in Merthyr Tydfil so engagement can be more 
targeted. This has been useful when engaging with EU citizens to offer advice 
and support on the EUSS scheme. 
 

 For National Hate Crime Awareness Week in October 2019, a week of events 
and engagement were arranged to raise awareness and encourage the 
reporting of hate crime. There was a total of 29 events held across the Cwm 
Taf region. A total of 451 residents took part in our hate crime surveys and we 
engaged with a much greater number on a more informal basis. 

 
Schools 
 

 MTCBC continues to support all of our schools to tackle bullying on the 
grounds of protected characteristics. Throughout 2019-2020, all schools 
within the Local Authority were offered Hate Crime Awareness training for 
both staff and pupils. 
 

 An ‘Equality Champion’ programme has been put together and includes 
young people aged 14-19 receiving specialised training about the protected 
characteristics. These young people will then go on to their respective 
colleges, schools and youth forums and put together events, deliver training 
and run engagement sessions surrounding any of the protected characteristic 
groups. 
 

 
Armed Forces Covenant 
 

 To engage with as many veterans and forces personnel as possible, the 
Veteran Advice Officer (VAO) actively attends veteran groups within the Cwm 
Taf area. Plus, a large amount of marketing has taken place, such as with 
leaflets and on social media. A drop-in advice surgery has also been held in 

Page 9



the MTCBC Civic Centre, to allow veterans or current service personnel to 
access free, impartial information and advice from the Veteran Advice 
Service. 
 

 The Armed Forces Flags were raised outside the Civic Centre for Armed 
Forces Day Forces Day itself, to show appreciation for the contribution made 
by all those who serve or have served in Her Majesty’s Armed Forces. 

 

5.0 SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 
 

5.1 The Socio-economic Duty places a responsibility on the Council to actively consider 
(‘pay due regard’ to) how we can reduce inequalities of outcome caused by socio-
economic disadvantage when making strategic decisions. The duty gives us an 
opportunity to do things differently and put tackling inequality genuinely at the heart 
of key decision making. The overall aim of the duty is to deliver better outcomes for 
those who experience socio-economic disadvantage. 
 

5.2 In broad terms, ‘socio-economic disadvantage’ means living on a low income 
compared to others in Wales, with little or no accumulated wealth, leading to greater 
material deprivation, restricting the ability to access basic goods and services. 
 

5.3 The duty will come into force on 31st March 2021 and will be a key mechanism in 
supporting the most vulnerable in our communities, and will be extremely important 
when we recover from the coronavirus pandemic. 

 
 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
6.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 

implications arising from the report will be reported to Cabinet/Council as 
appropriate, including potential options for funding. 

 
 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

Page 10



 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2019-2020 notes progress across all aspects 
of the Council’s equalities work, including progress on delivering its Equality Objectives 
for 2016-2020.  
 
The Council’s Equality Vision and Equality Objectives support the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals. 
 
The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2019-2020 positively impacts on the Council’s 
Well-being Objectives, the five ways of working and the protected characteristics 
(including Welsh language). 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 

Appendix 1 - ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT FOR 2019-2020 

 

 

 

 
ELLIS COOPER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

NO 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

  

ANNUAL 

EQUALITY 

REPORT 
2019-2020 

 
Page 13



  

 
2 

  CONTENTS 

 

 

FOREWORD …………………………..……………………………………………...Page 3 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND…………………………………………...Page 4   

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT - 

SUMMARY OF PROGRESS AGAINST DELIVERING THE COUNCIL’S  

EQUALITY OBJECTIVES…………………………………………………………...Page 8 

EMPLOYEE AWARENESS……………………………………………….............Page 22            

WORKFORCE DATA……………………………………………………………….Page 23 

PROCUREMENT……………………………………………………………………Page 24 

STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024……………………………………...Page 25 

CONTACT INFORMATION………………………………………………………..Page 28 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



  

 
3 

  FOREWORD 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) is pleased to introduce the fourth 

Annual Report for its Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. This Strategic Equality 

Plan was prepared in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 

Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and was approved by Council on 23rd March 2016.  

Through the Strategic Equality Plan this Annual Equality Report for 2019-2020 is 

testament to the Council’s ongoing drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver 

our Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil, which is:  

A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, 

flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 

discrimination and prejudice.  

The Council is working towards delivering this Vision through our role as a 

community leader, service provider, commissioner, employer and working in 

partnership to reduce inequalities and to improve the well-being of the County 

Borough.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



  

 
4 

   INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

 

Equality Act 2010  

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-

discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 

inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it. The 

majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010.  

The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 

separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th 

April 2011.  

The new general duty covers the following protected characteristics:  

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender Reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnerships 

 Pregnancy and Maternity 

 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 

 Religion or belief – including lack of belief 

 Sex (Gender) 

 Sexual orientation 
 

It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to 

have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination. 

 

What is the general duty?  

The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out 

a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 

through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty 

ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the 

delivery of services, and that they are kept under review. This will achieve better 

outcomes for all.  

When making decisions and delivering services we must have due regard to the 

need to:  

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct that is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who do not. 

 

Page 16



  

 
5 

The Specific Duties in Wales  

The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 

performance of the general duty and to aid transparency. 

The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) 

(Wales) Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th April 

2011. 

The specific duties in Wales cover: 

 Objectives 

 Strategic Equality Plans 

 Engagement 

 Assessing impact 

 Equality information 

 Employment information 

 Pay differences 

 Staff training 

 Procurement 

 Annual reporting 

 Publishing 

 Welsh Ministers’ reporting 

 Review 

 Accessibility  

 

Strategic Equality Plan  

The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 

publish a Strategic Equality Plan every four years.  

As part of the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan it was identified that an 

Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was essential in order to set out the Council’s 

ambition to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality and foster good 

relations. 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



  

 
6 

The following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil has been developed. 

This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives (listed in the table 

below) that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. The 

Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved by Council on 23rd March 2016.  

 

Themes Equality Objectives 

 
Community 
Engagement 

Equality Objective 1 
Put Citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making 
so that their contribution is understood, recognised and 
used to help the Council understand and respond to the 
needs of its communities. 

 
Equality Awareness 
Raising 

Equality Objective 2 
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and 
partners recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of 
their role. 

 
Understanding our 
Staff and 
Communities 

Equality Objective 3 
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, 
monitor and publish equalities data on our employees and 
customers, which will help the Council to ensure that it 
provides fair and accessible services. 

 
Gender/Equal Pay 

Equality Objective 4  
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council.  
 

 

These Equality Objectives will be delivered through an Action Plan that is set out in 

the Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil is; 

“A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 

participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free 

from discrimination and prejudice.” 

Page 18



  

 
7 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 support the Council’s 

Well-being Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals (shown in the diagram below) 

and link to the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development Principle) that are 

set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



  

 
8 

  PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT – SUMMARY OF PROGRESS    

  AGAINST DELIVERING THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITY OBJECTIVES 

 

Progress against delivering the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2019-2020 have 

been as follows: 

 

Hate Crime/Discrimination 

We continue to regularly engage with groups vulnerable to harassment and/or 

experiencing community tensions, particularly in relation to Brexit. Groups such as 

EU citizens, BAME communities and other protected characteristic groups.  

During 2019 all ethnic minority owned businesses, every library and every medical 

surgery across the Cwm Taf region were visited by the Community Cohesion 

Officers to engage with any vulnerable community members. Officers spoke with 

staff about engaging with any minority/vulnerable person or group that they may 

encounter. They also spoke to them about the EU Settlement Scheme (EUSS), hate 

crime and left information posters for display in their premises. 

Community Cohesion stalls are held in local areas of interest on a regular basis, 

sometimes in partnership with the Community Safety Team. This allows the profile of 

the Community Cohesion team to be raised and to engage in conversation with local 

people about cohesion. Regular contact is made with key figures within the local 

communities and we explore any concerns they raise. 

Protected Services Group (PSG) meetings are attended on a monthly basis across 
Cwm Taf where information is shared between a number of different partners 
regarding hate crime and community tensions. This allows us to put together a multi-
agency approach to combat issues. The Cohesion team also held meetings with the 
Independent Police and Crime Commissioner’s newly appointed Equality and 
Diversity Officer. Discussions were held around what the team have been doing and 
what areas could use further attention and more engagement.  
 
For National Hate Crime Awareness Week in October 2019, a week of events and 

engagement was arranged to raise awareness and encourage the reporting of hate 

crime. There were a total of 29 events held across the Cwm Taf region. A total of 

451 residents took part in our hate crime surveys and we engaged with a much 

greater number on a more informal basis. Officers also appeared on a local radio 

station, GTFM, during prime time to discuss hate crime, how to report it and to 

promote the roadshows being held across MTCBC and Rhondda Cynon Taff County 

Borough Council (RCTCBC). The prime time slot has an average of 40,000 listeners 

and GTFM have over 20,000 followers on social media. The week culminated with 

televised events held at both Pontypridd RFC and Merthyr RFC. Both clubs printed 

information regarding National Hate Crime Awareness Week in their programmes. 

Photographs were also taken with the football team, the cohesion team members, 

elected members and South Wales Police (SWP) with the ‘Be Heard’ banner. We 

worked alongside SWP to display the ‘Pride’ car at two key locations across Cwm 

Page 20



  

 
9 

Taf. This received a lot of interest from the public and started many positive 

conversations around hate crime. 

Churches in the Cwm Taf area were contacted and three included a written message 

in their weekly newsletter regarding hate crime and how to report it. 

The Council continues to monitor community tensions. The work involved includes: 

 Working closely with SWP to monitor tensions and create consistent positive 
messages through the media. 

 Making regular contact with key individuals/partner agencies from a variety of 
communities to gauge feelings and tension levels. During times of significant 
events, such as religious festivals, our Community Cohesion team works 
alongside partner agencies and the community to support, reassure and 
protect the public.  

 Collating and sharing details of incidents and situations likely to impact upon 

community tensions. Also to consider future events which have the potential 

to raise tensions. These might include planned local demonstrations by 

extremist groups, cultural events, sporting fixtures, or national and 

international events. 

 Attending Local ‘Partners and Communities Together’ (PACT) meetings 

across Cwm Taf where links with local community groups and members have 

been established. We continue to keep in touch with the Police Community 

Support Officers running the groups on a regular basis to keep an eye on any 

community tensions.  

 Providing regular tension monitoring reports through agreed channels, 

including regular summaries to the Welsh Government. 

 A Community Cohesion Group meeting is held every three months, and any 

possible arising tensions are discussed. Hate crime figures and data over the 

past three and six month periods are monitored to identify any possible trends 

or hotspots. A SWP report is also produced for all members showing figures 

and data captured. Victim Support and Show Racism the Red Card also sit on 

this group, so all figures are compared from multiple sources to gain a more 

inclusive picture. 

 Holding weekly meetings with the Community Safety Team in SWP to discuss 

any possible tensions. 

 Holding weekly “Team Huddles” between Community Safety Teams within the 

Local Authorities to discuss any issues. 

 Holding weekly team meetings with the Community Cohesion Coordinator and 

Community Cohesion Officers in order to share details of any emerging 

incidents, particularly as preparations are made for possible tensions on the 

day of the UK leaving the EU. 

 Hate crime awareness stalls/stands in colleges and public places are being 

used to engage with the community across Cwm Taf to reassure the public, 

promote available support services and monitor tensions. 

 

 

Page 21



  

 
10 

Brexit 

In 2019 we started conducting mapping exercises across the whole of the County 

Borough to better understand our community and to help us prepare for the possible 

impacts of Brexit on our communities. 

Developing an effective engagement strategy enabled us to better capture the wide 
range of community members. 
We worked with partner agencies to conduct this mapping exercise: 

 Some Registered Social Landlords (RSL) operating within the Local Authority 

provided us with nationality data of their tenants. This has aided us in working 

with the RSL’s, to ask them to distribute information to the support workers, 

and by putting information on their Facebook & websites pages. 

 

 Data of employee nationalities was received from Cwm Taf Morgannwg 

University Health Board. 

 

 We also gathered ethnic minority data from schools within Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

 Department for Work and Pensions and Citizens Advice Bureau were 

contacted for nationality data. 

 

 Councillors were approached to ask for data on nationalities within their 

wards. 

 

All of the above helped us to identify minority individuals and groups within Local 

Authority wards, and helped us to engage with minority communities to understand 

their concerns, particularly around Brexit. 

Engagement also took place with local employers to share concerns around any EU 

nationals they may employ. We continue to work with them; to provide as much 

information and support to them and their employees so they can remain working in 

the UK via the EU Settlement Scheme. All EUSS Support Services were contacted 

when engaging with local major employers and partnership working has been 

positive in this area. 

 

EU Citizens Rights project 

MTCBC has produced maps of the community. These maps have been used by the 
Community Cohesion team to help hold stalls and engagement events in the best 
places in order to get the most engagement from EU citizens so we can offer advice 
and support on the EUSS scheme. 
 
Engagement events have been held and will continue to be held throughout the 
Cwm Taf region. Event venues have included local hospitals, community hubs, 
supermarkets, school engagement evenings, business forums, over 50s forums, 
college open evenings, job centres, libraries, leisure centres, third sector forums, 

Page 22



  

 
11 

Registered Social Landlords (RSL) offices, ESOL (English for Speakers of Other 
Languages) classes and local factories.  
 
A drop in session was also arranged by the cohesion team to take place at Citizens 
Advice Bureau in Merthyr Tydfil. This involved Newfields Law occupying a room 
there to help with applications for the EUSS.  
 
A EUSS engagement evening event was arranged at a local Portuguese tapas bar in 
Merthyr Tydfil. This was in partnership with EYST (Ethnic Minorities and Youth 
Support Team) and attended by the cohesion team and the EUSS project worker 
from the Mental Health Charity ‘MIND’. The event included giving out advice and 
booking appointments for applications. Refreshments and entertainment were 
provided in order to promote cohesion in the local area. 
 
Regular contact was made with major EU employers in order to offer EUSS support 

services. Plus up to date EUSS information was provided and shared on all of the 

social media platforms across Cwm Taf. 

 

Community Groups and Events 

A Health and Wellbeing forum has been set up and is attended on a bi-monthly basis 
at Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil. From this meeting, links are established with local 
community groups that are part of the protected characteristics. 
 
The Merthyr Tydfil Global Village Festival this year took place on 24th August 2019.  
The festival was established in 2005 to celebrate the cultural diversity and heritage 
of Merthyr Tydfil through workshops, music, dance and art. The festival allows 
individuals, community groups and others to work towards some common goals: the 
celebration of diversity, the broadening of cultural horizons, the welcoming of new 
people to the town and the promotion of a positive image of the County Borough. 
 
 
Modern Day Slavery 
 
A Welsh organisation called BAWSO, which provides advice and support to Ethnic 
Minority women, was funded to come into MTCBC to deliver modern day slavery 
training to all frontline staff who may encounter potential victims in their role. This 
included the Community Safety Team, Social Services, Environmental Health, 
Planning, Trading Standards and Licensing. It was very well received and we are 
now looking to develop on online learning module about modern day slavery after 
the success of the BAWSO training.  
 
We regularly engage with businesses in the Local Authority such as takeaways, car 
washes and nail bars. Internal departments such as Environmental Health and 
Trading Standards also work closely to share intelligence. Engagement has centred 
on local businesses with a high intake of EU staff, to raise awareness of modern day 
slavery. In the future we will look to link this with the EU Citizens Rights Project.  
 

Page 23



  

 
12 

MTCBC is currently looking in to developing an E-learning module for its staff around 
awareness of modern day slavery and how to report any concerns via the Local 
Authority Intranet. This is currently in the early development stage. 
 

Schools 

MTCBC continues to support all of our schools to tackle bullying on the grounds of 

protected characteristics. We work closely with Hate Crime Officers and the schools 

to tackle hate related bullying. This is in partnership with other organisations such as 

Show Racism the Red Card.   

Throughout 2019-2020, all schools within the Local Authority were offered Hate 

Crime Awareness training for both staff and pupils. Training started in September 

2019 and was to continue for the remaining school year. This was originally set up 

by Cohesion Officers working with MTCBC. However, with limited officer capacity, it 

was more beneficial for the Hate Crime in Schools project to be delivered using third 

sector organisations with more expertise. Race Equality First was commissioned to 

deliver hate crime workshops within schools to educate and empower young people 

with regards to hate and discrimination. We worked with training and education 

officers at Race Equality First beforehand in order to share information on local 

schools and to have an input on the workshops. 

A hate crime training package has been developed for MTCBC and is being 

delivered to both primary and secondary schools across the County Borough. 

Special assemblies were also delivered to all four secondary schools in Merthyr 

Tydfil to raise awareness of hate crime. 

An ‘Equality Champion’ programme has been put together (due to run in the Easter 
holidays 2020) and includes young people aged 14-19 receiving specialised training 
about the protected characteristics. These young people will then go on to their 
respective colleges, schools and youth forums and put together events, deliver 
training and run engagement sessions surrounding any of the protected 
characteristic groups. Training will be delivered by Spectacle Theatre Group, Show 
Racism the Red Card and Stonewall. 
 
On 18th October 2019, school pupils in the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough were 
asked to wear red in support of the anti-racism education charity ‘Show Racism the 
Red Card’.  

 
On 21st June 2019, Council staff and school pupils were encouraged to participate in 
the Cystic Fibrosis Trust’s ‘Wear Yellow Day’. Money raised was donated towards 
groundbreaking drugs for the cure of Cystic Fibrosis. 
 

Ethnic Minorities 

The Council has met with EYST (Ethnic Minorities and Youth Support Team) to 

further discuss how MTCBC can engage with BAME (Black, Asian and Minority 

Ethnic) communities across the County Borough. The EYST is an award winning 

voluntary organisation which was set up to support ethnic minority people in Wales. 

Page 24



  

 
13 

Windrush Day was celebrated on 22nd June 2019; the same date as the arrival of 

around 500 migrants from the Caribbean to the UK in 1948. Grant funding was 

available from Welsh Government for community groups to bid into to hold 

celebrations/education events to commemorate Windrush day.  Up to £5,000 was 

allocated to every region across Wales for a BAME group to bid for the grant. Race 

Council Cymru successfully obtained the grant and ran engagement programmes 

across six schools in the Cwm Taf region; three in Merthyr Tydfil and three in 

Rhondda Cynon Taf. In Merthyr Tydfil the three schools chosen were Ysgol Santes 

Tudfel, Afon Taf High School and Cyfarthfa High School.  

On 27th July 2019, Race Council Cymru held the Windrush & Black History Arts 

Event 2019 in the Engine House in Merthyr Tydfil. This free event is incredibly 

important in giving a platform and a voice to black and minority ethnic individuals in 

Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

LGBTQ+ Community 

 

Proud Councils 

MTCBC and other Councils in South Wales are part of the ‘Proud Councils’ network, 
which involves working in a visible and unified way to promote equality, diversity and 
support the LGBTQ+ community. The Councils involved are Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, Cardiff, Newport, Caerphilly, Torfaen, Blaenau Gwent and Bridgend. 
 
The purpose of ‘Proud Councils’ is to improve support offered to LGBTQ+ staff within 
Local Authorities in Wales, and ensure that local government across Wales is a 
visible leader in the field of LGBTQ+ rights and actively championing LGBTQ+ 
inclusion in our communities. Being part of the ‘Proud Councils’ network highlights 
MTCBC’s commitment to promoting respect and diversity in our communities, and 
ensuring our public services work to deliver to everyone regardless of their sexuality, 
gender identity, age, race, disability or religion. 
 

Pride Cymru 2019 

The Council was proud to actively take part in Pride Cymru’s Big Weekend event in 

the summer for the fourth consecutive year. The event ran over 2 days on the 24th 

and 25th August 2019. The event is a great arena for engaging with the LGBTQ+ 

community to find out what issues are important to them. 

At the Big Weekend event, all ‘Proud Councils’ marched together in the Pride Cymru 

parade through Cardiff City Centre to visibly show their commitment and support. 

‘Proud Councils’ also had a stall, engaging with visitors to discuss how Councils can 

improve upon service delivery, access and inclusion, and prevent discrimination for 

the LGBTQ+ community. 

To celebrate Pride Cymru and to show the Council’s support, the Rainbow Flag was 

raised outside the Civic Centre. 

Page 25



  

 
14 

LGBT History Month 

A flag-raising event was held outside the Civic Centre on 10th February 2020 to 
celebrate Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) History Month as part of 
the Council’s commitment to supporting and engaging with the LGBTQ+ community 
within Merthyr Tydfil. Members of the LGBTQ+ community raised each of the four 
flags: the gay, bisexual, transsexual and non-gender flags. This year’s theme was 
Poetry, Prose and Plays. Its primary focus was teaching young people about the gay 
rights movement and working to put a stop to homophobia, biphobia and 
transphobia. The event was attended by the Mayor, our local Member of Parliament, 
Councillors and Council Staff, South Wales Police, Stonewall Cymru’s Director plus 
members of the Youth Cabinet and Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum 
(MTBWYF). The event was attended by over 50 people.  
 
The College Merthyr Tydfil hosted a gathering with students, staff and other allies to 

celebrate LGBT History Month. South Wales Police was in attendance, showcasing 

their rainbow coloured ‘pride’ car at the front of the college. The college invited 

partner agencies to set up stalls to offer information on their work and to raise 

awareness of equalities and hate crime. 

Awareness stalls were also present in Prince Charles Hospital and Royal Glamorgan 

Hospital. At Merthyr Tydfil Central Library, LGBTQ+ authors and writers held a 

display of their work with a Q&A session plus an ‘Equali-tea’ event was held at Coleg 

Y Cwmoedd Nantgarw Campus.  

MTCBC sent information out to all staff to raise awareness of the Pride Cymru event 

‘leap into sight’ which was held in the Senedd in Cardiff on 29th February 2020. It 

was a day of historical talks, discussions, film and entertainment in celebration of 

LGBT History Month 2020. ‘Proud Councils’ attended this event to raise awareness 

of the Proud Council Network. 

 

International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia 

International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia (IDAHOT) was 

celebrated on 17th May 2019. It is celebrated around the world on the same date 

every year to bring attention to the discrimination and violence LGBTQ+ people still 

face, as well as to recognise advancements in LGBTQ+ equality. The 17th May was 

chosen to celebrate IDAHOT as it commemorates the World Health Organisation’s 

decision to declassify homosexuality as a mental disorder in 1990. 

To celebrate IDAHOT day, MTCBC held a flag raising ceremony outside the Civic 

Centre where both the Rainbow and Transgender flags were raised. 

 

Gypsy Roma Traveller Community 
 
The Cohesion team continue to work closely with the Gypsy Roma Traveller officer 
in Merthyr Tydfil and regularly engage onsite with the Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) 
community. 

Page 26



  

 
15 

 
The Cohesion team have funded a parallel literacy project which involves a group of 
young people from the GRT community and a group of young people from the village 
close to their site. They will write a book and record a song based on their 
experience of living in the area and then will come together at the end of the project 
in order to look at their differences and similarities. We are hoping this will lead to 
further projects within the community. 
 
All Cohesion Officers received up to date GRT awareness training, so they are better 
equipped when they engage with the GRT community. 
 
Officers from MTCBC attended a meeting with the new GRT division in Welsh 
Government to discuss issues on the site and the plans moving forward. Officers 
also attended the Cross Party Group Gypsy & Traveller Meeting on 25th June 2019.  
 

Welsh Language 

The Council has developed a Welsh Language Programme structured around 

compliance with the Standards, translation and promotion of the Welsh language. 

 

Working in partnership with the Welsh Language Training Unit at Cardiff City 

Council, a Welsh language customer telephone and greeting training course has 

been developed. The aim of the course is to upskill MTCBC staff to support the 

Council’s provision of Welsh language services to the communities of Merthyr Tydfil. 

During 2019-2020, thirteen members of front-line staff received this training.  This 

has been enhanced with our Customer Service Agents undertaking Level 1 Welsh to 

reinforce previous learning. As part of the ongoing upskilling of staff the Council will 

continue to roll out this training within the Council’s training programme for Welsh 

language. This was training organised by the Grwp Deddf Local Authorities.  

 

As part of the Council’s Welsh Language continuous improvement programme and 

self-regulation work for compliance with the Standards, a mystery shopper project 

was developed (working in partnership with Menter Iaith Merthyr Tudful – 

collaboration). It was first undertaken in 2017 and again in early 2019. The findings 

were analysed and areas for improvement are being used to inform the Council’s 

Welsh Language Programme and other related strategies going forward. A third 

mystery shopper project will take place later in the year. 

 

The Council continues to work in partnership with Dysgu Cymraeg Morgannwg 

(Learn Welsh Glamorgan) to provide workplace training opportunities for staff and 

Councillors. This includes an ongoing promotional campaign to encourage staff and 

Councillors to undertake Welsh language training opportunities via drop-in sessions, 

through the intranet, by email, and taster sessions.  

The Council currently has fourteen members of staff learning Welsh in the workplace 

ranging from entry level to intermediate level 1 and 2. In 2019, nine members of staff 

successfully achieved the WJEC Entry Certificate in Welsh Second Language: The 

Use of Welsh. Some Council learners have also taken part in the Cynllun Siarad / 

Page 27



  

 
16 

Speaking project (as part of the Council’s provision of Welsh language workplace 

training opportunities). This is a project to help learners gain confidence in using the 

language outside of the working environment. This project has progressed well; 

informal feedback from learners has shown that they really appreciate the 

experience and they have benefited from being part of this initiative.   

Working in partnership with Dysgu Cymraeg Morgannwg we also continue to provide 

ongoing social opportunities for learners to listen and practice using Welsh.  

Previously, learners of the Council have assisted Dysgu Cymraeg Morgannwg with 

the marketing of courses and offer any support to promote the Welsh language 

throughout the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil. Some learners working at the 

Council also regularly enrol on additional Welsh language classes and take part in a 

Welsh speaking group that meet up for walks around Cyfarthfa Park in Merthyr 

Tydfil. 

To support staff and Councillors learning Welsh and to promote the Welsh language, 

the Council has developed a Welsh word / phrase of the fortnight initiative. The short 

Welsh phrases appear on computer screens every fortnight designed to help staff 

and Councillors learn basic business Welsh, and they are encouraged to practice the 

Welsh phrases with colleagues, friends and family. 

 

Urdd School Eisteddfod Success 2019 

The National Urdd Eisteddfod 2019 Cardiff and the Vale took place in May 2019.  First 

and Second Language Schools participated in the local and county district. It was great 

to see Merthyr Tydfil County Borough being represented at national level.  

Our schools achieved magnificent success in reaching the stage, the results of which 

can be seen below 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful – Mixed Medium Dance (3rd place). 

 Ysgol Uwchardd Pen y Dre - Learners Dialogue year 7 – 9 (1st place). 

 Ysgol Uwchradd Pen y Dre - Individual recitation for Learners year 10 and 

below 19 years old for learners (3rd place). 

Two members of the Community were honoured into the Gorsedd Bardd in August 

2019 for their contribution to the Welsh Language in Merthyr Tydfil. The honours, 

presented annually, provide an opportunity to recognise individuals from all parts of 

the country for their achievements and commitment to Wales, the Welsh language 

and their local communities. 

 

Working Skills for Adults 2 

 

Working Skills for Adults 2 is a project that has been supported by the European 

Social Fund through the Welsh Government. The project is aimed at upskilling 

people across a variety of free accredited courses. During the period 1st April 2019 to 

31st March 2020, Working Skills for Adults 2 delivered accredited Welsh language 

skills training to 36 individuals in Merthyr Tydfil. Training has also been provided for 

individuals who work at The College Merthyr Tydfil and Cwm Taf Morgannwg 

Page 28



  

 
17 

University Health Board. 21 people have completed the Welsh reception skills 

course and 15 people have completed Welsh nursery skills.  

In addition to this, Working Skills for Adults 2 working in partnership with Adult 

Community Learning in Merthyr Tydfil delivered the Welsh reception skills course to 

forty learners at The College Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

Welsh Language Coffee Morning  

The Council have been working with staff at the Neighbourhood Learning Centre in 

Merthyr Tydfil to hold a coffee morning once a month for learners and staff who have 

lost their confidence to speak the language.  It is an informal event where staff 

members speak about hobbies and social events. This has proven to be very 

successful and it is hoped that it can be rolled out in other departments of the 

Council.   

 

MTCBC Welsh Language Champions Group  

In October 2019, a Welsh Language Champions group was established for staff 

members of the Council. The purpose is to share ideas of good practice to see how 

departments can implement the Welsh Language Standards and discuss any issues 

in relation to the Welsh Language.  Welsh language desk stands were created to 

help staff with basic phrases and to give them the confidence to speak the language. 

It is now general practice to open meetings in Welsh and the use of the Welsh 

language in all forms is encouraged by Senior Managers and Councillors alike. 

Grwp Deddf 

The Council is an active member of Grŵp Deddf and officers regularly attend their 

meetings. Grŵp Deddf is a voluntary group consisting of Welsh Language Officers 

for public sector bodies who come under the compliance requirements of the Welsh 

Language (Wales) Measure 2011. The aim of Grŵp Deddf is to discuss and share 

information and good practice on Welsh language. 

Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 

 

The Council has a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) for 2017-2020 that is 

supported by an Action Plan. The WESP sets out seven outcomes, the delivery of 

which are monitored by the Council’s WESP Forum. 

Community Work and Events 

During August 2019, children in Merthyr Tydfil were given the opportunity to enjoy 

Welsh activities during a Family Fun Day. This was the twelfth Family Fun Day at the 

Cwm Golau Integrated Children’s Centre (ICC) in Merthyr Tydfil, and as in previous 

years was a great success. The day was supported by key partners, allowing 

opportunities for fun and family engagement. The Welsh activities were run in efforts 

to support the Council’s Welsh Language Promotional Strategy and attracted 1,153 

people. The event was attended by a number of children from Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd-

Y-Grug and Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful in Merthyr Tydfil, as well as 

Page 29



  

 
18 

children who attend Ti a Fi provisions within the County Borough. Menter Iaith 

Merthyr Tudful also participated in the activity.  

In December 2019, a Santa’s Grotto event took place at the ICC and children were 

offered the opportunity to receive a Welsh book as their gift. 

We continue to support, along with the Council’s Cabinet Member for Community 

Regeneration and Public Protection, a weekly community Welsh class in the village 

of Heolgerrig in Merthyr Tydfil. The class encourages the whole community to come 

along and learn, practice, improve or use their Welsh in a sociable and welcoming 

environment. The class has its own volunteering tutor who facilities the classes and 

promotes awareness and understanding of the culture and history of the Welsh 

language locally and nationally. 

 

In line with promoting the Welsh Language, on the 15th October 2019 the Council 

organised a ‘Diwrnod Shw’mae Su’mae’ event. The event focused on Welsh Medium 

Education where Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Rhyd-y-Grug and Santes Tudful 

participated by performing Welsh Medium items. This event was organised through 

working in partnership with Cymraeg Byd Buses, Menter Iaith Merthyr Tudful and 

Dysgu Cymraeg Morgannwg.  

 

Working in Partnership with The College Merthyr Tydfil and Menter Iaith Merthyr 

Tudful, a St David’s Day event was held on March 2nd at The College Merthyr Tydfil.  

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful participated by performing items. The 

Deputy Welsh Language Commissioner was present to promote the Welsh 

Language. The Mayor, and Councillor Chris Davies (Welsh Language Champion for 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council) were also present. 

 

Urdd Sports 

 

The Council’s Welsh Language Service and Active Merthyr Tydfil continue to work in 

partnership to support the Urdd Sports Team. The key purpose of the project is for 

the Welsh language to continue to become more prevalent in the community by 

providing a range of opportunities for children and young people to take part in sport 

and physical activity through the medium of Welsh.  This will take the form of after 

school clubs, community clubs and holiday provision. 

 

For 2019-2020, some of the key developments of the project included: 

 After School Provision - There are five after school clubs in Merthyr Tydfil 

where a variety of sports are delivered each week – two in the Welsh 

language and three bilingually. 

 Community Clubs - There are five community clubs in Merthyr Tydfil. These 

clubs are all run bilingually and are run from different venues across Merthyr 

Tydfil. During the summer term a tennis club was run for 10 weeks from 

Merthyr Tennis Club. 

 Partnership Working - As part of the project there are partnerships in place 
with key stakeholders to provide opportunities to support and develop the 

Page 30



  

 
19 

Welsh language. These include Menter Iaith Merthyr Tudful, Urdd, Welsh and 
English medium schools in Merthyr Tydfil, Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun, Active 
Merthyr Tydfil, The Youth Service and The College Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

Feedback from the Commissioner 

 

MTCBC has received positive feedback from the Welsh Language Commissioner in 

the report ‘Rights in use The Welsh Language Commissioner’s assurance report 

2018-19’.  MTCBC is recognised for the good work undertaken with partners 

including the work we have done with the local Menter Iaith and our work experience 

and further opportunities; “Merthyr Tydfil CBC is working with the Coleg Cymraeg 

Cenedlaethol to identify opportunities for similar work in future.” 

 

The Council’s Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report for 2019-2020 was 

approved by Cabinet on 16th September 2020 and is available on the Council’s 

website. 

 

Insport (Disability Sport Wales) 

MTCBC is currently an Insport Silver Local Authority in the Disability Sport Wales 

programme and throughout 2019-2020 we have continued to work towards the Gold 

level. Insport is a programme that challenges and supports organisations to be 

inclusive in their delivery of sport and physical activity. 

As is stands, Merthyr Tydfil is one of only two Local Authorities in Wales to have 

presented to the Insport Gold pre-panel to set our their priorities for their submission. 

We are currently supporting a number of local clubs to work through their relevant 

Insport levels, ensuring there is a range of inclusive opportunities across the County 

Borough.  

We continued to pilot the Insport education programme with Disability Sport Wales; 

the only Local Authority in Wales to do so. There are currently four schools actively 

engaged in the programme.  

Active Merthyr continues to support the Multiple Sclerosis (MS) Society Cymru with 

the Active Together project, which runs across Merthyr, Cardiff and Rhondda Cynon 

Taf. The aim is supporting people with MS to be active. An MS specific National 

Exercise Referral Scheme (NERS) programme was run in conjunction with Merthyr 

Tydfil Leisure Centre and a number of workshops and taster sessions have been 

supported by the Local Authority.  

Active Merthyr supported the Bridging the Gap youth group to set up a specific after 

school sports club on a weekly basis. The club runs out of Greenfield School and 

sees external clubs and providers brought in to run specific sessions for Bridging the 

Gap members, with a view to developing relationships between Bridging the Gap 

and the community to support disabled members to access opportunities. 

Page 31



  

 
20 

On 15th June 2019 in Abercynon Leisure Centre, a free Disability Sport Wales Cwm 

Taf Morgannwg Insport series event was held. It gave people the opportunity to try a 

range of sports and find out what’s on across the Cwm Taf region, as well as 

meeting the Disability Sport teams in each Local Authority. 

 

Armed Forces Covenant 

Merthyr Tydfil has a proud record of valuing it’s armed services, both serving and 

retired. Being part of The Armed Forces Covenant is our commitment to supporting 

our armed forces personnel and their families in a number of areas such as 

education, well-being, healthcare, employment, housing and financial assistance. 

The Veteran Advice Officer (VAO) actively attends veteran groups within the Cwm 

Taf area. Also good relationships continue to grow with key organisations such as 

SSAFA (the Armed Forces Charity), The Royal British Legion and Change Step who 

offer support for veterans, their families and carers in Wales to access vital support 

services and to tackle stress and mental health related issues. 

Quarterly meetings are held between MTCBC and three neighbouring Local 

Authorities to share good practices and ideas. 

A drop-in advice surgery has been held in the MTCBC Civic Centre, to allow 

veterans or current service personnel to access free, impartial information and 

advice from the Veteran Advice Service. Feedback received was very positive. 

To engage with as many veterans and forces personnel as possible, and to raise 

awareness of services, marketing leaflets are distributed throughout the County 

Borough. Social media has also been a good advertising tool for making people 

aware of the service. People are signposted to the MTCBC website, which provides 

further information about the Veteran Advice Service. 

Pop up advertisement banners have been created and placed in Council public 

areas such as Leisure Centres and ONE4ALL Centres. The VAO continues to attend 

local events to promote the service, and will continue to have a presence at key 

events. 

To date: 

 301 referrals were received for the Cwm Taf area in 2019-2020. 86 of these 

were in Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Majority of veterans accessing the service in Cwm Taf in 2019-2020 were 

male - 87%. 

 67% were in the Army and 43% are aged 51 to 70 years old. 

On Monday 24th June 2019 the Armed Forces Flags were raised outside the Civic 

Centre. They were flown for the rest of the week until Armed Forces Day itself, which 

was Saturday 29th June 2019, to show appreciation for the contribution made by all 

those who serve or have served in Her Majesty’s Armed Forces. 

An afternoon tea dance was held on 11th May 2019 at St Tydfil’s Church in Merthyr 

Tydfil, to remember D-Day 75 years on. All proceeds went to the Royal British 

Page 32



  

 
21 

Legion poppy appeal and St Tydfil’s Church fund. Also on Sunday 12th May a tree 

planting and remembrance service took place in St Tydfil’s Church. 

MTCBC was proud to have been selected to host the St David’s Day Parade by 3rd 

Battalion The Royal Welsh on Saturday 29th February 2020. This prestigious event is 

to celebrate St David’s Day and the Reaffirmation of the Freedom of the County 

Borough, which was granted to the regiment in 2011. The Regiment & Band 

marched through the town centre. The day of celebrations also included Welsh-

themed food, crafts and gift stalls, military displays and stands. Plus live 

entertainment from Welsh tribute acts. 

 

Holocaust Memorial Day 

Holocaust Memorial Day was celebrated in Merthyr Tydfil on 27th January 2019 with 

a Holocaust Memorial Service at St Tydfil’s Parish Church. 

MTCBC worked in partnership with Wellbeing Merthyr to arrange the service and 
engagement event to celebrate 75 years since the liberation of Auschwitz. This was 
attended by elected members, staff members, SWP and members of the local 
community. There were over 100 people in attendance.  
A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



  

 
22 

EMPLOYEE AWARENESS 
 

 

Information on the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty is available on 

the Council’s Intranet and Internet for staff to view. 

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part of its Strategic 

Equality Plan for 2016-2020, which will support the Council in continuing to raise 

awareness about Equalities: 

To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that 

staff at all levels, Councillors and partners recognise and incorporate 

Equalities as part of their role. 

 

Training and Continued Professional Development 

Training and Continued Professional Development is a key element of the Council’s 

Performance Management Framework for staff member’s Performance Appraisals 

and One to Ones. This enables employee training needs for Equalities to be 

identified and addressed. 

On 10th June 2019, the Council’s Equalities Manager and Cohesion Coordinator 

provided Equality Awareness training, along with Hate Crime Awareness training to 

MTCBC’s Senior Leadership Team, as it is an objective of the Council’s Strategic 

Equality Plan 2016-2020. The aim of the training was to raise awareness about 

community cohesion, especially in light of potential implications of Brexit on 

communities in Merthyr Tydfil. Also it supports the Council in delivering its Strategic 

Equality Plan and in meeting the requirements of Stonewall’s Education Equality 

Index. 

In addition to this, an e-learning package about hate crime was developed and is due 

to be issued to all staff in the new financial year (2020-2021). It will be mandatory for 

every member of staff and elected members to complete the training with the aim of 

ensuring all staff understand what hate crime is and how to report it, should they 

ever need to. 

MTCBC staff were encouraged to participate in ‘Learning at Work Week’ which ran 

from 13th-19th May 2019 on the theme ‘shaping the future’. The week is a unique 

annual event to build learning cultures at work. It aims to put the spotlight on the 

importance and benefits of continual learning and development. As well as sessions 

like craft and music, workshops were held on Autism, Dementia, Drink Wise, 

Mindfulness and the Welsh Language. 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Board held a Celebration of Good Practice event 

on 15th May 2019, bringing together organisations from Rhondda Cynon Taf, Merthyr 

Tydfil & Bridgend. It was aimed at all professionals whose role involves safeguarding 

children, young people & adults; to share good practice, identify opportunities and to 

learn together. 

Page 34



  

 
23 

  WORKFORCE DATA 

 

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part of its Strategic 

Equality Plan for 2016-2020, which supports the Council in understanding the profile 

of its employees: 

 Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and publish 

equalities data on our employees and customers, which will help the Council 

to ensure that it provides fair and accessible services.  

  

Workforce data for the Council as at 31st March 2020 is attached as Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



  

 
24 

  PROCUREMENT 

 

The Council considers it essential that all organisations wishing to provide goods or 

services on its behalf are able to demonstrate that all reasonable and practicable 

steps are taken to allow equal access and equal treatment in employment, service 

delivery and training for all.   

The Council uses the European Single Procurement Document (ESPD) blended with 

appropriate supplier qualification questions and has added its own specific equalities 

related questions to it. The Council’s standard Invitation to Tender (ITT) templates 

includes a specific equalities statement with the inclusion of contract clauses relating 

to the Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. Equalities 

and Welsh Language related clauses to its standard terms and conditions for 

contracts are added when required.   

The Council underpins the principles of the Welsh Procurement Policy Statement 

2015 (WPPS) and its ten main themes through a fit for purpose procurement 

strategy that provides strategic direction and coordination to comply with corporate 

priorities and the WPPS. The WPPS includes themes such as Economic, Social and 

Environmental Impacts, Community Benefits and Open, Accessible Competition.  

The Equalities and Welsh language elements of the Procurement Process in relation 

to Tendering and Request for Quote Documentation have been reviewed in line with 

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Welsh 

Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  

These documents support the Council in ensuring that all third party suppliers 

demonstrate compliance with these requirements, where relevant to the nature and 

type of goods and services being provided on its behalf.  

The Council is a signatory of the Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code of 

Practice. Modern Slavery, Blacklisting and Employment Practices have been 

incorporated into the pre-qualification/selection stage questionnaires for all 

applicable tender activity.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



  

 
25 

STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 
 

 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires public bodies to; 

 Publish objectives to meet the general duty. 

 Publish a statement setting out the steps it has taken or intends to take to 
meet the objectives and how long it expects to take to meet each objective.  

 Make appropriate arrangements to monitor progress towards meeting its 
objectives and to monitor the effectiveness of its approach.  

 Give appropriate consideration to relevant equality information it holds when 
considering what its equality objectives should be.  

 

MTCBC’s Strategic Equality Plan for the next four years (2020-2024) reflects our 

commitment to equality in the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil, and ensures we are 

meeting our statutory obligations as found within the Equality Act 2010. The plan 

replaces the Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020 which was approved in March 2016.  

It highlights links to legislation and regulations covering Welsh Language Standards 

and Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and responsibilities under 

the Public Sector Equality Duty. This continues the work the Council is doing and 

promotes our commitment to ensuring that we have inclusive communities free from 

discrimination. 

Consultation 

To help shape the new Strategic Equality Plan, we undertook a 12-week consultation 

with the public and workforce from December 2019 to February 2020. An on-line 

survey was available to complete, emails were sent to staff and community groups 

that reflect the protected characteristics contained within the Equality Act 2010, with 

updates being posted on social media channels. We have also met with the Senior 

Management Team within the Council and Managers who will be delivering the 

actions within the action plan. 

The purpose of the consultation was to ensure we meet our duties to review our 

equality objectives and to engage with protected characteristic groups in doing so. 

We asked people to consider the following when answering the questions; 

 What challenges are people with protected characteristics facing within the 
County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil? 

 Do the objectives adequately address these challenges? 

 What more could we do to improve? 
 

Some of the feedback we received from the consultation included; 

 We should engage and involve people in the community more, ensuring that 
we reflect the demographic make up and proportions of the area. We should 

Page 37



  

 
26 

also engage with people at the earliest time, before decisions are made, and 
consider the timing of focus groups to cater for those who work.  

 We should lead by example and ensure we have an inclusive and diverse 
workforce so that it is reflected in the wider community. Also, to talk more 
openly about what it means to have inclusive, safe and cohesive 
communities. 

 More staff awareness and training about protected characteristics and 
education to staff on various issues. Positive education about people with 
mental and physical disabilities. 

 Ensure how we monitor information allows everyone to be represented. 
Information should be accessible to all. 

 Promote opportunities for more flexible working. Give more people 
opportunities to apply for jobs within the Council by making them external as 
well as internal. 

 Remove barriers and ensure equality of opportunity for all. 

 Consider reviewing policies and procedures to address any issues or 
challenges identified. 

 Ensure that services are accessible to all people with disabilities and consider 
providing gender neutral facilities. Also consider updating relevant monitoring 
forms to reflect other genders.  

 There should be equity in pay between men and women in the Council. 
Ensuring that women and men get the same opportunity in the workplace, 
regardless of protected characteristics. 
 

We used the information from the consultation to inform our objectives and actions 

within the Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024. 

 

Objectives 

The themes and objectives that we have included within the Strategic Equality Plan 

2020-2024 are identified in the table below: 

THEME OBJECTIVE 

Inclusive 
Engagement and 
Participation 

Engage with our Citizens to participate and have their 
voices heard to understand and respond to the needs of 
our communities. 
 

Community 
Cohesion 

Promote and facilitate inclusive, safe and cohesive 
communities. 
 

Inclusive and Diverse 
Workforce 

Create an inclusive and diverse workforce, which reflects 
the communities in Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Gender/Equal Pay Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council. 
 

Accessible Services Understand and remove the barriers people face when 
accessing our services. 

Page 38



  

 
27 

A number of actions for each objective was identified and will be reviewed and 

monitored throughout the duration of the strategy. 

 

Socio-economic Duty 

The Socio-Economic Duty places a responsibility on the Council to actively consider 

(‘pay due regard’ to) how we can reduce inequalities of outcome caused by socio-

economic disadvantage when making strategic decisions. The duty gives us an 

opportunity to do things differently and put tackling inequality genuinely at the heart 

of key decision making. The overall aim of the duty is to deliver better outcomes for 

those who experience socio-economic disadvantage. 

In broad terms, ‘socio-economic disadvantage’ means living on a low income 

compared to others in Wales, with little or no accumulated wealth, leading to greater 

material deprivation, restricting the ability to access basic goods and services.  

The duty was due to come in to force March 2020. However, the Welsh Government 

reprioritised its business to reflect the unprecedented nature of the Coronavirus 

(COVID 19) pandemic. Therefore, a revised date for the duty has been agreed. The 

duty will now come into force on the 31 March 2021. The duty will be a key 

mechanism in supporting the most vulnerable in our communities, and will be 

extremely important when we recover from the current crisis. 

Research and preparation work is being undertaken in meeting the duty on a day-to-

day basis and how this will be incorporated into our working practices to ensure we 

are meeting the duty. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



  

 
28 

  CONTACT INFORMATION 

 

We welcome comments on the report and if you want to know more about the work 

the Council is doing please use the contact details below: 

 

Equalities 

Civic Centre 

Castle Street 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF47 8AN 

Tel: 01685 725000 

equalities@merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40

mailto:equalities@merthyr.gov.uk


  

 
29 

  WORKFORCE DATA – EMPLOYED STAFF AT THE COUNCIL 31ST MARCH 2020                                                APPENDIX A 

 

Number of Staff 

Permanent Fixed Term Full Time Part Time 

1879 405 1292 992 

 

Age 

16-34 35-54 55-64 65+ TOTAL 

576 1241 426 41 2284 

 

Disability 

Deaf/Hard of 
Hearing 

Mental Health 
Difficulties 

Mobility 
Impairment 

Learning 
Impairment 

Long-Standing 
Illness 

Visual 
Impairment 

11 7 6 2 37 4 

 

Other No Disability Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

TOTAL 

15 1952 250 2284 

 

Gender 

Male Female TOTAL 

557 1727 2284 

 

 

P
age 41



  

 
30 

Sexual Orientation 

Gay Woman/Lesbian Gay Man Bisexual Heterosexual/Straight Other Prefer not to 
Answer/Not 

Known 

TOTAL 

13 12 3 1992 2 262 2284 

 

Religion 

Christianity No Religion Buddhism Judaism Islamic Hinduism Other Prefer not to 
Answer/Not 

Known 

TOTAL 

656 986 4 1 4 0 131 502 2284 

 

Ethnicity 

White British White Other Asian Black 
Caribbean 

Black 
African 

Mixed 
Race 

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

TOTAL 

1993 15 8 1 1 1 265 2284 

 

First Language 

English Welsh Maltese Polish German Portuguese French 

1602 34 0 6 2 2 1 

 

Spanish Filipino Thai Prefer not to Answer/Not Known TOTAL 

1 0 1 635 2284 

 

 

P
age 42



  

 
31 

People Profile - Salary 

Salary All Staff 

Male Female 

Full Time Part Time Full Time Part Time 
£0 - £4,999 0 8 0 212 
£5,000 - £9,999 0 13 0 153 
£10,000 - £14,999 9 43 42 430 
£15,000 - £19,999 51 26 122 230 
£20,000 - £24,999 130 4 130 63 
£25,000 - £29,999 88 1 119 17 
£30,000 - £39,999 99 5 174 56 
£40,000 - £49,999 71 0 176 4 
£50,000 - £59,999 10 0 26 1 
£60,000 - £69,999 12 0 16 0 
£70,000+ 8 0 9 0 
Calculated: Total 
number of salaries 

    

TOTAL 478 100 814 1166 

 

NB- The figures include staff with multiple posts. 

 

Job Applications (April 2019 to March 2020) 

Total number of applications = 2004 

In terms of the number of staff who applied for a job internally at the Council, we received 289 internal applications of which 90 

were Male and 199 were Female. 

In terms of external applicants the Council received 1,696 external applications of which 446 were Male and 1250 were Female. 

In terms of Agency Applications the council received 19 applications, of which 3 were male and 16 were female.    

P
age 43



  

 
32 

 Number of employees involved in 
grievance procedure 

   

Protected 
Characteristics 

As the complainant A person against 
whom a complaint 
was made 

Number of 
employees subject 
to disciplinary 
procedures 

Number of 
employees who 
have left the 
Authority 

Number of Staff 
taking Maternity 
Leave 

 1 1 21 223 58 

Age      

16-34   5 67 42 

35-54 1 1 11 84 16 

55-64   5 56  

65+   0 16  

      

Sex      

Male 1 1 5 68  

Female   16 155 58 

      

Disability      

Disabled    8 2 

Non-Disabled 1 1  169 49 

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

  21 46 7 

      

Sexual Orientation      

Heterosexual 1 1  166 49 

Lesbian/Gay    4  

Bi-Sexual    1  

Other    2 1 

Prefer not to Answer/ 
Not Known 

  21 50 8 

      

P
age 44



  

 
33 

Ethnic Group      

English/Welsh 1 1  165 45 

White Other 1 1  9 1 

Asian      

Black African      

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

  21 49 12 

      

Religion or Belief 2 1    

No Religion 0 0  91 25 

Christianity (all 
Denominations) 

0 0  47 15 

Islamic 0 0    

Buddhism 0 0   1 

Other 0 0  16  

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

2 1 21 69 17 

 

Gender/Equal Pay 

The Council undertakes annual gender pay gap reporting and this is included in the Pay Policy Statement, which is published on 

31st March.  

All jobs are evaluated using the Greater London Provincial Council scheme of Job Evaluation (with the exception of Heads of 

Service who are processed via the HAY Scheme). No personal information regarding the post holder is taken into account at this 

stage. As a result, the grading system is free of any unconscious bias. The grades and additional payment mechanisms in 

operation at the Council are provided on a gender neutral basis. Therefore, there are no obvious discrepancies between genders 

during the reporting.  

There is no inequality in pay. All jobs are scored fairly and consistently in accordance with the Greater London Provincial Council 

scheme. Our policies and procedures are continually monitored and reviewed to ensure that there are no hidden or perceived 

P
age 45



  

 
34 

barriers. Historically, the Council together with Trade Unions undertook a lot of work with the implementation of single status and 

the new pay spine. 

P
age 46



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Future Commitment to Delivering Shared Regional 
Education Advisory Services for Children and 
Young People with a Sensory Impairment 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

 This report asks Cabinet to consider a proposal from the Education Directors group 
across Bridgend, Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) to move from separate 
and autonomous sensory services to a shared sub-regional, Educational Advisory 
Service for children and young people with a sensory impairment (Children and young 
people who have a hearing (deaf), visual (blind) and/or dual sensory impairment 
(dea/fblind)), subject to further scoping. 

 
 This new sub-regional service would be in partnership with the two other Councils from 

the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region; for at least three years. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 

 Further scoping undertaken to consider the above proposal, be approved. 
 

 By the end of Summer Term, a further paper on specific proposals for delivery be 
presented to Cabinet. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

 A shared, sub-regional Educational Advisory Service for children and young people 
with a sensory impairment would provide us with a resilient and future-proofed sensory 
impairment service to families and schools across the region.   

  

Date Written 8th March 2021 

Report Author Sue Walker 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 24th March 2021 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



This shared service could respond effectively as the numbers of children and young 
people with sensory impairments increases, appreciably.   
 

 It is set in a context of unequivocal nationally collated evidence of rising challenge, on 
the current capacity of Councils, to meet this group of young people’s Additional 
Learning Needs.   
 

 A shared service could diminish the growing difficulties recruiting and retaining 
specially skilled staff to provide these statutory services locally, and it could ensure 
that all partner local authorities are prepared and able to meet the additional 
challenges inherent in the forthcoming ALN reforms. 

 
 Across the Central South Consortium (and Wales as a whole) Councils currently 

provide and deliver highly specialist sensory impairment/ALN services, to families and 
schools.  This paper acknowledges the growing difficulties delivering a continuous 
service to families, during a period of unprecedented public sector financial austerity, 
significant impact of a global pandemic together with an irrefutable increase in the 
population of these extremely vulnerable children and young people. 
 

 In the Autumn of 2020, Directors of Education and the Central South Consortium, 
commissioned an independent review of the region’s sensory impairment/ALN 
services (see Appendix 1).  The purpose of this review was to ascertain if an individual 
Council’s current sensory impairment services were fit for future-purpose, financially 
sustainable and operationally prepared to meet the prospective workforce changes 
projected over the next five years. 
 

 The Central South Consortium Directors group reviewed the independent report and 
believe it is in the best interests of families with hearing impaired/deaf, visually 
impaired/blind and/or deafblind/multi-sensory impaired children to move forward with 
a pioneering strategy to future-proof these specialist services by developing a sub-
regional sensory impairment service in partnership across Bridgend, Merthyr Tydfil 
and RCT councils.  
 

 Each Council has a legal duty, under the current Welsh Code of Practice (ALN), to 
provide specialist services to families of deaf/hearing impaired, blind/visually impaired 
and deafblind/multi-sensory impaired children, in Early Years and schools’ settings 
(currently not in FE provision).  Under impending, new legislation, these duties and 
responsibilities will change to include liability for those young people attending local 
post-16 FE establishments. 
 

 In addition, Councils are also required to provide specialist teachers who hold a 
mandatory qualification in hearing, visual or multi-sensory impairment.  Without the 
provision of an appropriately qualified workforce, families would be entitled to seek 
specialist, out-of-authority placements to secure access to this specialist teaching and 
learning, thus placing an excessive and avoidable burden on the Council’s under-
pressure ALN budgets. 

  

Page 48



4.0 KEY MESSAGES FROM CONSULTANT’S REPORT 
 

 The independent consultant’s report provides robust and direct evidence that the 
population of deaf/hearing impaired, blind/visually impaired and deafblind/multi-
sensory impaired children is increasing, drastically, across the region and Wales.  All 
three local authorities involved with this proposal reported increases in their respective 
hearing, visual and multi-sensory impaired populations, over the last five years.  

 
 Furthermore, the recruitment and retention of specialist teachers and support staff 

holding mandatory qualifications in hearing, visual and multi-sensory impairment, has 
become progressively more challenging over the last five years.   
 

 In a number of cases, it has not been possible to recruit any qualified staff to current 
sensory teams and Councils have embarked on the costly exercise of finding and 
training experienced mainstream teachers, in this area of ALN.  
 

 Interest from experienced, mainstream or special schoolteachers willing to undertake 
re-training and complete a two-year mandatory teacher training course, is 
unpromisingly low. 

 
 Specialist sensory impairment workforces are recognised, nationally, as ageing.  The 

current, small number of academic training providers (none in Wales) cannot deliver 
sufficient numbers of newly qualified teachers, as the contemporary workforce retirees 
exceeds the demand for new appointments. 
 

 Within five years (or less) and without decisive action, the Council’s current isolated 
sensory impairment teams will be faced with operationally critical short-falls in 
qualified staff, to meet growing numbers of newly identified and vulnerable children 
and young people with sensory impairments.  
 

 Moreover, public services are not unflawed and this opportunity will enable us to drive 
forward and improve the way in which current sensory impairment services operate.  
Regionalising the resources and expertise across the three councils will enable us to 
realise efficiencies in travel, equipment, training and direct support to families and 
schools.  

 
 The respective Directors of Education have been proactive, having commissioned an 

independent review to evaluate the risks and subsequent options facing the region’s 
sensory services.  The report identifies areas for development and improvement.  If 
this proposal is approved, it will ensure the partner Council’s future-proof these highly 
regarded ALN services, safeguarding and ensuring financial sustainability.  

 
 In a number of the region’s local authorities, there has been growing uncertainty 

apropos the long-term future of their mandatory ALN services.  
 

 This report seeks to provide a clear commitment from each of the three respective 
Councils to the enduring future of these low incidence services, and provide families, 
schools and local authority staff with assurance, during a period of significant 
insecurity, for this aspect of the educational sector in Wales. 

  

Page 49



5.0 THE NEXT STEPS 
 

 If the three Council Cabinets endorse this proposal i.e. the further scoping of the 
delivery of a regional, shared educational advisory service for sensory impairment, the 
Directors of Education will subsequently present to their respective Cabinets the 
following: 

 

 An explicit and clear-cut strategy to ensure that families, across the three Councils, 
continue to receive high quality, specialist statutory support for their children and 
young people; 

 Projected increases in the numbers of children and young people accessing these 
services, together with a plan on how Councils will continue to meet their statutory 
duties i.e. provide mandatory qualified ALN staff to support families and schools, 
across the region; 

 A remodelling of the existing educational sensory services, in particular the 
operational arrangements and deployment of resources, advised and informed by 
an Independent Consultant; 

 Three-year budget proposals for consideration by the respective Councils; 

 Ensure all modified operational arrangements take account of forthcoming 
legislative changes (2021) and guarantee that these new 0 - 25 services are future-
proofed. 
 

6.0 CONSULTATION  
 

 There will be significant engagement with all families across the region, Council’s 
current sensory impairment staff/teams, Headteachers, Governors and members of 
the area's voluntary and community sector, as part of the transformation of the current, 
separate sensory impairment services.  This will safeguard the respective future 
delivery of support and interventions to sensory impaired children and young people 
across Bridgend, Merthyr Tydfil and RCT councils.  

 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
 There are no financial implications from this report.  Any implications as a result of 

changes in service delivery would need to be considered following next report. 
 

8.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

5 of 5  0 of 5 0 of 5 

Page 50



 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
 2 of 10  0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

 0 of 1  0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are more resilient services for vulnerable learners through a 
collaborative and regional delivery approach. 
 

 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 
 

STRATEGIC POSITION PAPER 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An Options Appraisal of the Region’s 
Sensory Impairment Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Geraghty  
Independent SEND Consultant 
 
 
  

Page 53



 
 

 
CONTENTS 

 
1.  The Remit of this Strategic Position Paper 

 

2.  Purpose of this Position Paper 
 

3.  Sensory Impairment Service Delivery Options  
 

4.  Partner LA Inclusion Leads - Emerging Themes 
 

5.  Options Appraisal and SWOT Analysis 
 

6.  Options - Risk Appraisal 
 

7.  Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

8.  Appendices 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 54



1. The Remit of this Strategic Position Paper 
 
In January 2020, I met with Chief Officers from the region’s five central Wales Local 
Authorities (CSC) to discuss the requirements to facilitate the publication of a strategic 
position paper, regarding their respective provisions for children and young people with 
sensory impairments.  
 
It was agreed that I would undertake an evaluation of their sensory impairment services, 
based on the following brief;  

 
“Prepare an options appraisal paper for us to consider the best strategic 
direction for sensory provision across the 5 Central South Wales authorities.  
 
We would like you to outline the context, specifically legislative and an 
analysis of the effectiveness and sustainability of the current models 
employed in the individual LAs.  
 
Against each option could you identify the strengths and potential risk but 
also we would ask that you identify the option/s that you consider to be the 
most appropriate for us to investigate further”. 
 

This analysis is set in the context of the Welsh Government’s aspirations to enhance and 
extend, regional working across the country.  
 

National policy “We all recognise that the future requires us to work 
differently, but more importantly it requires us to work together, within the 
sector and with our partners to deliver high quality, responsive and 
integrated public services alongside those who need them.” 

 
Mark Drakeford, Welsh Government 

 
Accordingly, I was happy to undertake, on behalf of the five Central Local Authorities1 of 
Wales a concise evaluation of the merits and feasibility of a merged regional service for 
sensory impairments, across the partner authorities; 
 
Table 1  

Local Authority Population2 

Bridgend 139,200 

Cardiff  478,000 

Merthyr Tydfil  59 495 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 240,131 

Vale of Glamorgan 132,165 

Total for the Regional 1,048,991 

 
 
  

                                            
1 Local Authorities = LA 

2 Approximate figures via the respective LA websites (September 2020).  

Page 55



2. Purpose of this Position Paper  
 
In order to gauge the efficacy of this options appraisal, the five Local Authorities need to 
have a clear understanding of the current and future ALN of this group of children and 
young people (C&YP) i.e. those with a sensory impairment. 
 
Principal Strategic Question -  
 
What does a needs analysis tell us about our current level of ALN (SI) and how is this 
forecast to change in future years?  
 
(*Further, detailed, information is available in Section 4 of this paper - see Table 5. Central 
South Consortium Provision Map) 
 
Headline Analysis of the Trend Data 
 

 Trend data for C&YP with sensory impairments including those with complex and 
additional needs indicate increases and decreases over the last 9 years.  

 

 The 2019 CRIDE reported a 5% reduction in pupil numbers on the previous year, 
following an 11% increase in 2017.  

 

 Generally, increases in the SI population in Wales, over the last 10 years, are in line 
with other national and international data e.g. EPICURE, Consortium for Research 
in Deaf Education3 VIEW.  

 

 By comparison; in England, there was a 7% increase in the equivalent low incidence 
population, 2019.  

 
How well do the current SI services meet the needs  C&YP now and what outcomes are 
being achieved? 
 
Parallel Strategic Issues - 
 

I. In broad terms what activities do the services currently deliver to families, early 
settings and schools? 
 

II. Do we understand the operational impact i.e. outcomes of these SI services on 
C&YP with sensory impairments? 
 

III. How do the SI services offered, provided and align with the future strategic 
direction of ALN legislation in Wales? 

 
Appendix I4 sets out a universal description of a support and intervention framework 
offered by sensory impairment services. This section endeavours to provide an abridged 
reference which attempts to addresses questions I and II, of the above strategic issues 
detailed, above.  
 
Question III will be addressed, in part, after this position paper.   

                                            
3 https://www.batod.org.uk/information/cride-reports/ 

4 See the Section Appendixes at the end of this document. 

Page 56



Supplementary strategic influences are set out in Appendix II - Prevailing Strategic 
Imperatives (detailing key drivers in appraising the value of consulting further on a regional 
SI service). 
 
The current legislative requirements for SI workforces in England & Wales are further 
detailed in Appendix III - Sensory Impairment Workforces – Current Legislative Context, of 
this paper. 
 

3. Sensory Impairment Services - Delivery Options  
 
What options, if any, are persuasively viable for ensuring that the additional learning needs 
of C&YP with sensory impairments can continue to be met in the future? This question is 
set in a context of; 

 projected changes in the numbers, type and prevalence of this particular ALN 
cohort; 

 retaining a high-quality, specialist workforce, given trend data over the last 9 years?; 

 impending ALN new legislation.   
 
The options comprise;  

 making no changes to existing operational SI services 

 minimal changes that build on existing collaborations  

 developing a regional SI service  
 
All of these choices must ensure that the five partner LAs can continue to meet C&YP’s 
ALN effectively in a context of diminishing resources. Together with, assimilating and 
incorporating local and national strategic/operational requirements? 
 

4. Partner LA Inclusion Leads - Emerging Themes 
 
Evidence Collecting Methodology  
 
I gathered the individual views of the Inclusion Leads which has critically informed and 
shaped the options appraisal and resultant risk analysis.  
 

Table 2 

Date Activity Descriptor 

30th January 2020  Meeting with LA Chief Officers group to discuss the fundamental ideas 
concerning an opportunity to undertake this appraisal, including 
confirmation (subsequently) of the rationale for this position paper 

4th March 2020   One-to-one meeting with David Davies (Vale of Glamorgan) 

5th March 2020  One-to-one meeting with Sarah Bowen (Merthyr Tydfil) 

6th March 2020  One-to-one meeting with Ceri Jones (RCT) 

6th March 2020 One-to-one meeting with Jennie Hughes (Cardiff) 

6th March 2020 One-to-one meeting with Michelle Hatcher (Bridgend) 

16th March 2020 Lockdown in the UK announced by Matt Hancock 

31st July 2020 MS Teams video call Sarah Bowen (Merthyr Tydfil) 

24th August 2020 MS Teams video call Ceri Jones (RCT) 

25th August 2020 MS Teams video call Michelle Hatcher (Bridgend) 

27th August 2020 MS Teams video call Jennie Hughes (Cardiff) 

28th August 2020 MS Teams video call David Davies (Vale of Glamorgan) 

 
  

Page 57



The initial face-to-face meetings provided a platform, for the respective inclusion leads, (in 
some cases the IL asked their respective Heads of SI to join the meeting) to detail their 
views, frankly and candidly, concerning the idea of consulting on a regional SI Service.  
 
In each meeting, I noted critical or significant comments from the discussions, which I have 
recorded, confidentially and anonymously.  
 
A number of the ILs were definite about their interest in the concept of a regional SI Service. 
Others were robust in their beliefs that either minimal or no change was their preferred 
option. 
 
Tables 1 & 2 below, summarises the views of the respective Inclusion leads and which 
informs the options appraisal and its consequent conclusions. 
 
Table 3 

Retaining Status Quo 

1. It might create insecurity for families, schools and other stakeholders 

2. Essential that the five LAs/region looks ahead, purposefully, as changes are impending 

3. Capacity building in schools to support and promote inclusion 

4. Stability for families and schools is critical, in the current climate, as families and schools 
face countless capacious changes 

5. Prevailing management of local SI teams is robust and ensures high-quality delivery of 
Services 

6. It might dilute the local offer 

7. Conflicting and incompatible models of prevailing SI support across the respective LAs i.e. 
some delegate resources to schools, others retain similar resources, centrally 

8. Existing ‘local’ collaborations were effective and meeting the ALN of C&YP 

9. Established practices support effective regional cooperation and collaboration of SI teams, 
working across the five LAs  

10. Transforming these collaborations, across all the five LAs into a unified SI Service, might 
present significant operational challenges to maintaining coherent support to families and 
schools 

11. Two different Health Boards across the 5 LA 

12. Potential loss of ‘local’ accountability with a regional SI Service  

13. Large geographical area which would present logistical, organisational and travel obstacles  

14. It had been discussed previously, with no follow-up or action, frustratingly 

15. Needed 5 years ago – the opportunity was missed and solutions have been found 

16. It could be destabilising for SI staff across the respective services 

17. Exactly what would a regional service look like, how would it coordinate the various services 
efficiently and competently? 

18. How would it operate strategically and operationally i.e. would there be lead LA, joint 
funding, to whom would a regional service be answerable? 

19. Are there complimentary, operational models other than just a regional SI service?  

20. It would impact and diminish IL’s existing responsibilities (some ILs have responsibilities 
wider than SI services) 

21. Professional impact for SI managers who might no longer have responsibility for directing 
and managing the SI service 

22. In some LAs SI services are associated with other ALN services; a regional service would 
impact on these arrangements 

23. Up-to-date statistics and information would be needed apropos the trends of this population, 
across the region, to inform a public consultation 

24. Is it change for change sake? 

Page 58



Table 4 
Regional Service 

1. Essential that the five LAs/region looks ahead, purposefully, as changes are impending  

2. Reduce duplication of resources and limited time across the region 

3. Capacity building in schools to support and promote inclusion 

4. The Welsh government is committed to increasing and extending regional collaborations, 
local authority integration and advancing regionalisation (cited Local Government 
Reforms)   

5. A regional SI service would prove to be more cost-effective for the five councils through 
economies of scale i.e. specialist’s advice and SI population intelligence 

6. Facilitate the sharing of good practice from across all the LAs 

7. Build regional resources e.g. Braille support to students 

8. Addresses the forthcoming requirements to support in FE Colleges/post 16/post 19 given 
there is inadequate, dedicated resources and specialist staff for this sector 

9. Reduce the likelihood of ALN Tribunals where there’s a paucity of provision or restricted 
access to specialist support staff 

10. Improve operational planning for probable changes in; the SI workforce, C&YP population, 
schools and concomitant legislative changes 

11. Ensure a sustainable and justifiable SI service going forward i.e. future-proofing SI 
provision for families and schools, across the region 

12. Improve the delivery of SI services; believe it would offer more efficient and effective 
support to families and schools, given the greater resources resultant from a regional SI 
Service 

13. Create a more resilient model of operational delivery given some of the trends they’d been 
experiencing in the last five years 

14. Opportunity to create a ‘hub and spoke’ type service model, balancing local operational 
delivery with a more strategic regional view of the needs of this SI C&YP populous  

 
Table 5* Central South Consortium Provision Map 
 
The information5 below represents the current data set for C&YP across the five partner 
LA SI services. It provides a summative insight into the range of SI provision offered and 
delivered by the respective LA SI Services.   
 
It includes information about; the C&YP supported by the LAs; SI workforces, SI C&YP in 
Special Schools and individual teaching resource centres (TRC) as part of a continuum of 
ALN provision (not all LAs operate separate and/or discrete SI TRCs).    
  

                                            
5 Appendix IV contains the individual LA responses to my requested information 

Page 59



 
The information below was collated from 
specific data provided by the respective 
Inclusion Leads. 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-
sensory 
Impaired 

Totals 

Number of children & young people (C&YP) 
supported by the LA’s SI service 
(maintained EY/LA school settings) 

833 372 13 1218 

Number of SI C&YP supported in specialist  
LA resource bases 

70 13 2 85 

Number of SI C&YP supported in LA special 
school settings  

78 101 19 198 

Have the numbers of C&YP on your LA’s 
caseloads increased or decreased, in the 
last year? 

x4 increase 
x1decrease 

x4 
increase 

x1 
decrease 

  

Number of fte SI teachers employed 
centrally 

16 12.4 1.2 29.6 

Number of fte SI support staff employed 
centrally 

14.2 21.7 1 36.9 

Number of fte SI teachers holding or 
undertaking a mandatory qualification (MQ)  

14 19.5 4 37.5 

Number of fte SI support staff holding or 
undertaking a specialist qualification related 
to HI/VI/MSI 

13 21.5 2 36.5 

Areas of SI provision provided, via an SLA, 
to another local LA 

Two LAs hold SLAs with two other LAs 
from across the CSC consortium 

Number of specialist primary resource 
bases 

4 0 0 4 

Number of specialist secondary resource 
bases 

4 0 0 4 

Number of fte SI resource base teachers 
holding or undertaking a mandatory 
qualification (MQ)  

2 0 0 2 

Number of fte SI resource base support staff 
holding or undertaking a specialist 
qualification related to HI/VI/MSI 

16 0 0 15 

Number of C&YP in specialist SI/ALN 
placements outside the LA’s maintained 
provision e.g. independent or NMSS schools 
or colleges   

5 4 0 9 

Number of qualified staff (MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 

1 3 0 4 

Number of unqualified staff (MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 

7 7 0 14 

 
Additionally, I have included, in Appendix V (for information) a range of national data for 
Deaf C&YP in Wales and Visually Impaired C&YP in England6. This section evidences 
national trends over 9 years and details some significant interpretations. 
  

                                            
6 I was unable to find/access specific data for C&YP with VI/MSI in Wales. 

Page 60



 
5. Options Appraisal and SWOT Analysis 

 

 Option 1: Status quo i.e. no change but with some augmentation to the existing 
SLA arrangements, which builds on the pre-existing cross-border alliances.  

 

 Option 2: In this scenario, CSC would look to create two, sub-regional sensory 
impairment services i.e. SubR 1. RCT + Merthyr + Bridgend SubR 2. Vale of 
Glamorgan + Cardiff.  

 

 Option 3: Move forward with and consult on developing, publishing and ultimately 
consulting on a regional SI service model (experience indicates this process could 
take up to nine months from start to sign up).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



SWOT Analysis of Option A – Maintain Existing Service Arrangements (remain as discrete SI Services, deployed and managed 
by existing LAs including furtherance of existing local collaborations 

S 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Strengths 

No immediate disruption to families, schools and stakeholders; 
No immediate change for existing SI staff;  
No additional costs to the LA, short-term;  
SI Service staff are accustomed to/and comfortable in how they work and perform i.e. it’s how they’ve always done it;  
No change to the current use and allocation of additional SI resources/equipment; 
SI services fully staffed – maintains workforce constancy; 
Relationships with and knowledge of schools is an asset;  
Continuity for pupil’s communication and learning needs;  
Consistency of teaching interventions; 
Provision of specialist equipment for pupils; 
No change to SLAs to local LAs e.g. HI/VI and Habilitation works well; 
No cost of a public consultation; 
No need to review the role of SRC’s for SI in relation to the SI teams (where applicable). 

W 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Weaknesses 

No strategic resilience, if/when the SI and school populous changes i.e. rise in SI incidence;  
Limited capacity to respond to likely changes in C&YP’s ALN;  
Sustainability of local workforces remains exposed as they age/move, etc. 
Increasing numbers of SI C&YP with decreasing qualified workforce e.g. MQ staff is a risk for families - could lead to 
requests for out of authority placements; 
Potential increased cost to fund requests for residential specialist school and/or FE college as pupil numbers rise – 
such placements could be catastrophic, financially;  
At odds with Welsh Government’s national drivers to foster and facilitate regional collaboration and ultimately 
regionalisation; 
Leaves smaller LAs vulnerable to changes in service delivery i.e. how the respective SI service priorities are ordered 
and by whom? 
Limited opportunities to review and share best practice across a regional team; 
How are SI services held responsible, consistently across the region, in the future; 
Parent and stakeholder views unsolicited; 
No scrutiny of a successful regional SI Service in the SE of Wales;  
Limited career development opportunities for SI workforce, within existing arrangements; 
Retention, recognition and retainment of QTVI/HI & MSI staff more challenging for LAs. 

P
age 62



O 
 
 
 
Opportunities 

Look to extend, enhance and formalise further local relationships; 
Prepare for new ALN legislation via local partnerships based on current operational models; 
Improve local monitoring protocols, already in place, to ensure trend data, SI C&YP numbers, etc. are regularly 
scrutinized; 
Crucial adjustments (operational and financial) can be made promptly to ensure the maintenance of high-quality SI; 
Formalise sharing of regional SI practice, collect outputs and use information summatively, to inform and improve 
operational effectiveness across the region. 
 

T 
 
 
 

Threats 

No contingency in the event numbers of C&YP and/or SI workforces becomes capacity critical; 
Introduction of RSIS would mean loss of role/status for some members of the existing SI teams, this threat is assuaged; 
If regionalisation becomes a mandated requirement for SI services in the future, changes will be forced on LAs rather 
than them  being in control of such changes;  
Staff within SI teams move to other local LA services for career development or further professional recognition i.e. 
they wish to be a part of a regional service, elsewhere; 
Funding changes, at a local level, make unconnected SI service delivery increasingly more problematic for LAs.  
 

 

SWOT Analysis of Option B – Nominal Improvements to Existing Service Arrangements (Progress to sub-regional, SI Services, 
deployed and managed by a lead LA. Existing local collaboration formalised, managed and funded by a lead authority as a 
unified ‘local’ SI service: 
 
1 ~ Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan become a unified sub-regional service  
2 ~ Bridgend, Merthyr And RCT become a sub-regional service, coterminous with their respective Health Boards) 

S 

 
Strengths 

As in Option B but furthermore incorporates - 
Little or no disruption to families, schools and stakeholders; 
Little of no change for existing SI staff;  
No additional costs to the LA, short term; 
SLAs and attendant costs/work upgraded; 
Insignificant cost to affirm existing and/or any new agreements; 
Operational staff experience minimal change; 
Little or no change to the current use and allocation of additional SI resources/equipment. 

P
age 63



W 
 
 
Weaknesses 

As in Option B but furthermore incorporates - 
Minimum strategic resilience, if/when the SI and school populous changes; 
This is a half-way house between existing arrangements and a full regional SI Service (why make limited change);  
Reduced capacity to respond to likely changes in C&YP’s ALN locally;  
Sustainability of local workforces remains perilous as staff age/ change/move on/illness, etc.; 
At odds with Welsh Government’s national drivers to foster and facilitate regionalisation but more in keeping with the 
spirit. 

O 
 
 
 
 
Opportunities 

As in Option B but furthermore incorporates - 
Curtailed opportunities to review and share best practice;  
Smaller LAs less vulnerable to changes in service delivery demands i.e. SI service priorities, increasing C&YP numbers; 
The requirement to design a rudimentary strategic plan for unanticipated changes in C&YP needs and/or impending 
workforce discrepancies; 
Opportunity to review how SI services are evaluated and performance held accountable? 
Joint planning for future legislative changes; 
Modest ability to respond promptly and dynamically to changes in the SI population;  
Minimal future-proofing the recruitment of specialist workforce; 
Nominal progress of current systems apropos how existing SI services are appraised;  
Ensure sub-regional SI Services’ performance are transparent, always formative and through positive challenge and 
support, operational delivery held communally accountable? 
Plan and respond, in a timely fashion, to future legislative changes; 
Opportunity to co-produce new joint arrangements from the outset. 

T 
 
 
 

Threats 

Existing Families will see any movement in this direction as an opportunity to reduce funding, albeit small; 
All changes must be communicated promptly, transparently and with explicit detail; 
Some members of current SI Staff teams may still feel threatened by any change; 
Minimal improvement in the effective and efficient use of the respective LA’s resources; 
Repurpose overlapping funding and improve the quality and quantity of support to C&YP, Families and Schools; 
Inadequate to capacity to respond to significant growth following the introduction of the new ALN Legislation; 
Workforce vagaries could impact on SLA arrangements in the event of compromised priorities.   
 

 
  

P
age 64



SWOT Analysis of Option C – Move to a Consultation of the Efficacy and Utility of a Regional SI Service (Develop, Publish 
and Consult on a Model of Operational Delivery for a Regional SI Service based on a Shared Strategic Vision) 

S 
 
 
 
 

Strengths 

Regional SI Service (RSIS) ensures robust strategic resilience when the SI population and workforce experiences 
probable variations i.e. rise in SI incidence/ageing of MQ teachers;  
Capacity to respond promptly, dynamically and therefore productively to changes in C&YP population/ALN;  
RSIS workforce is durable, provides high levels of quality assurance and will be responsive and flexible to meet 
changing demography of SI C&YP; 
Supports the Welsh Government’s national drivers to promote and facilitate regional collaboration and ultimately 
regionalisation; 
Removes overlapping/duplication of funding thus improving the quality and quantity of support to C&YP, families and 
schools; 
None of the LAs is exposed or vulnerable to changing SI service priorities (planned or inadvertent); 
Exceptional opportunities to review and share best practice across RSIS; 
Develop a Regional Partnership Board (RPB) to include parents, C&YP and stakeholders, to challenge and support 
the RSIS’s outputs and outcomes (co-produce this Board?); 
Indisputable transparency and accuracy vis-à-vis accountability of RSIS across the region; 
Parent and stakeholder views inform RSIS development, expansion and communication; 
Enhanced career development opportunities for RSIS workforce;  
Considerably improved retention, recognition and retainment of QTVI/HI & MSI and other SI staff; 
More efficient and effective use of the public purse; 
Enriched value for money function with a RSIS; 
Financial efficiencies can be reinvested into the RSIS facilitating ‘targeted’ workforce development/CPD/career 
opportunities;  
An amalgamation of SI resources will ensure proportionate allocation of assets/equipment based on C&YP ALN; 
New co-produced relationships with families, schools and stakeholders, providing new opportunities to re-evaluate and 
update existing primacies;  
Consistency of pupil teaching/intervention programmes to C&YP; 
Removes onerous SLAs between local LAs.  

W 
 
 

Likely short-term disruption to C&YP, their families, schools and stakeholders; 
Individual LAs will share the control and management of the RSIS; 
The inescapable political fallout from the change (will need managing); 
Requires an innovative culture of sharing and distribution of resources across the five LAs; 
Potential adverse publicity for the five LAs; 
Extensive change for some existing SI staff, which may result in staff self-selecting and moving on;  

P
age 65



 
 
 
Weaknesses 

Reduction in the number of SI managers/leads; 
This model is likely to be unwelcomed across some of the LA SI teams;  
Some SI Service staff familiar with existing practices and performance may be disconcerted and unhappy with the 
change (short-term?);  
Potential disruption to continuity for C&YP and families, if not managed strongly;  
Will require infrastructure change i.e. HR/finance/IT systems for new regional service; 
Cost of a public consultation; 
Additional implementation costs for the LA, short term. 

O 
 
 
 
Opportunities 

Consolidate and rationalise regional resources and structures to improve the efficiency, effectiveness and deployment 
of an integrated service which could maximise further financial expenditure; 
Develop integrated KPI systems focused on outcomes, agreed outputs, progress and achievements for C&YP; 
Revamp monitoring and prioritisation protocols to ensure that trend data, SI C&YP numbers and more are regularly 
scrutinized;  
Annual RSIS improvement plan will enable adjustments to be made to safeguard high-quality SI support to C&YP and 
their families; 
Formalise sharing of regional SI practice, through CPD, Improvement & Training programmes, to increase operational 
effectiveness and quality, across the region. 

T 
 
 
 
 

Threats 

Plans communicated inadequately; 
Existing families may see any move in this direction as an opportunity to reduce funding; 
Schools may feel this is potentially a disrupting, precarious strategic and/or operational change for C&YP; 
Some members of current SI Staff teams will be threatened by impending change; 
Without a robust and credible consensus for change, across the 5 SI teams, any consultation on a RSIS  could be 
ruinous; 
Perceived loss of control at local levels by managers/SI leaders; 
Will each LA support this move, unequivocally? Without this assurance you will not achieve the effective regionalisation 
of SI Services; 
Loss of status or job security across some SI teams; 
Professional peer pressure, among some of the team members, who may feel compelled to resist change to protect 
co-workers. The is a powerful driver in the workplace i.e. it maintains service identity and stability, so any change to 
these facets is resisted; 
Fear of failure/exposure under a different regime;  
Significant loss of employee confidence in the implementation change process; 
Cross authority politics i.e. the size, influence and control of the respective LAs cannot be agreed. 

 

P
age 66



6. Options - Risk Appraisal 
 
The following tables attempts to assess the risks associated with some of the key 
activities/decisions for each option.  This process is based on a probability rating, detailed 
in the table below.  
 
As ever, risk appraisals are principally subjective views and are not intended to be 
unequivocal or based on any absolute empirical values.  
 
Their purpose is to provide a professional judgement consequent to the key risks of each 
key activities/decisions appraised. They are indicative of a risk calculation which has been 
subject to an analysis, by me, of what could cause harm to specific aspects of the 
respective SI services operational activities and consequent decisions.  
 
It seeks to identify the threats and harm that might result in collective risk, within the context 
of the respective option’s descriptors. 
 
What I have not included with these risk appraisals is the respective help each LA would 
require to mitigate high-risk activities/decisions i.e. putting control measures in place based 
on the level, severity and likelihood of a particular risk.  
    
Table 3 – Understanding Risk Assessment Ratings 
 
A risk assessment rating is the possibility that an event will occur with detrimental 
outcomes for a particular stakeholder group(s), activities or consequence of taking this 
decision. 
 
For example; disruption to families (chosen from Option A) has a risk assessment rating 
of 1 ~ indicated green in Table 6. This suggests the likelihood of this risk is improbable and 
the potential impact of the choice, on this activity, is negligible.  
 
Please note I have only selected critical operational/strategic risks, for each option. These 
risk assessment ratings are based on my professional judgement of the critical operating 
risks, for each option. 
 
Using coloured blocks to indicate the individual risk rating, an aggregated visual ranking 
can be garnered from each option, so providing an overall appreciation of risk for each 
option i.e. the more green blocks estimated for an option, the less risk associated with that 
choice and vice-versa. 
 
Table 6 

Likelihood Severity Rating 

Certain - 5 20 15 10 5 

Probable - 4 16 12 8 4 

Occasional - 3 12 9 6 3 

Remote - 2 8 6 4 2 

Improbable -1 4 3 2 1 

Probability Rating Catastrophic - 4 Critical - 3 Marginal - 2 Negligible -1 

 
 
 

Page 67



Table 4 - Option Risk Appraisal  
Option A – Maintain Existing Service Arrangements (remain as discrete SI Services, deployed and managed by existing LAs 
including furtherance of existing local collaborations Key Risks ~ Appraisal  

 7Rating 

Disruption to families, schools and stakeholders;  

Immediate change for existing SI staff;   

Additional costs to LAs, short-term;  

Change to the current use and allocation of additional SI resources/equipment;  

SI services remain fully staffed – maintains workforce constancy;  

Continuity for pupil’s communication and learning needs;   

Continuity of provision of specialist equipment for pupils;  

No strategic/operational resilience, if/ when the SI and school populous changes i.e. rise in SI incidence;   

Impact of increasing numbers of SI C&YP together with the decreasing workforce (MQ staff) results in the risk of families requesting 
out of authority placements’ due to inadequate access to MQ staff; 

 

Increased cost to fund requests for residential specialist FE college placements, financially, without appropriately experienced SI 
staff;  

 

At odds with Welsh Government’s national drivers to foster and facilitate regional collaboration and regionalisation;  

Leaves smaller LAs vulnerable to changes in service delivery i.e. how SI service priorities are ordered and by whom;  

Retention, recognition and retainment of QTVI/HI & MSI staff more challenging for LAs.  

 

Option B – Nominal Improvements to Existing Service Arrangements (Progress to sub-regional, SI Services, deployed and managed 
by a lead LA. Existing local collaboration formalised, managed and funded by a lead authority as a unified ‘local’ SI service: 
- Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan become a unified sub-regional service  
- Bridgend, Merthyr And RCT become a sub-regional service, coterminous with their respective Health Boards 

 Rating 

Disruption to families, schools and stakeholders;  

Little change for existing staff;  

Additional costs to the LA, short term;  

Change to the current use and allocation of additional SI resources/ equipment;  

Minimal strategic resilience when the SI and school populous changes;  

Capacity to respond to likely changes in C&YP’s ALN locally, restricted;   

Sustainability of local workforces remains perilous as staff age/ change/move on/illness, etc.;  

                                            
7 Inevitably these judgements are subjective and based on the author’s knowledge and experience of similar service facing similar challenges and changes. These risk ratings are open to further debate and discussion. 

P
age 68



At odds with Welsh Government’s national drivers to foster and facilitate regionalisation but more in keeping with the spirit;  

Require a plan for future legislative changes with resultant operational impacts;  

Ability to respond promptly and dynamically to changes in the SI population;  

Future-proofing the recruitment of specialist workforce;  

Existing Families will see any movement in this direction as an opportunity to reduce funding, albeit small; 
Improvement in the effective and efficient use of the respective LA’s resources; 

 

 

Option C – Move to a Consultation of the Efficacy and Utility of a Regional SI Service (Develop, Publish and Consult on a Model of 
Operational Delivery for a Regional SI Service based on a Shared Strategic Vision) 

 Rating 

Changes to a regional SI Service (RSIS) ensure strategic resilience when the SI population and workforce experiences variations 
i.e. rise in SI incidence/ageing specialist teachers; 

 

A transition plan and implementation arrangements to a RSIS workforce not managed effectively i.e. does not provide well-judged 
levels of quality assurance together-with responsive operational tractability; 

 

Does not support the Welsh Government’s national drivers to promote and facilitate regional collaboration and regionalisation;  

Removal of overlapping/duplication of funding facilitating sustained improvement in the quality and quantity of support to C&YP, 
families and schools; 

 

None of the LAs is exposed or vulnerable to changing SI service priorities (planned or inadvertent);  

Opportunities to review and share best practice across RSIS;  

Ineffectual Regional Partnership Board (RPB) to include parents, C&YP and stakeholders, to challenge and support the RSIS’s 
outputs and outcomes; 

 

Parent and stakeholder views unsolicited regarding the concept, development, expansion and communication of a RSIS;  

Enhanced career development opportunities for RSIS workforce;   

Improve retention, recognition and retainment of QTVI/HI & MSI and other SI staff;  

Failure to move to a RSIS results in not maximising the efficient and effective use of the public purse;  

Failure to move to a RSIS will impact proportionately on the  allocation of assets/equipment/resources based on C&YP ALN, 
directly; 

 

Disruption to C&YP, their families, schools and stakeholders;  

Individual LAs perceive a loss of direct control and management of their SI services;  

Likelihood of political fallout from the change which will need managing;  

Potential adverse publicity for the five LAs;  

Impact of the reduction in the number of SI managers/leads and their respective responsibilities;  

Some SI Service staff familiar with existing practices and performance may be disconcerted and unhappy with the change (short-
term?);  

 

P
age 69



Impact of infrastructure change i.e. HR/finance/IT systems for new regional service;  

The additional cost of a public consultation;  

Additional implementation costs for the LAs (medium-term);  

Impact of consolidating and rationalising regional resources and structures to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the 
integrated service and maximise financial expenditure; 

 

The time required to develop integrated KPI systems focused on outcomes, outputs, progress and achievements for C&YP;  

Plans communicated inadequately and by the wrong tier of Officers;  

Existing families may perceive any move in this direction as an opportunity to reduce funding without the opportunity to ask 
questions; 

 

Schools/ALNCos may feel this is a disrupting strategic and/or operational move for C&YP at a time of excessive change;  

Without a robust and credible consensus for change, across the 5 SI teams, any consultation on a RSIS could be ruinous;  

Risk of professional peer pressure among some of the SI team members i.e. feel compelled to resist change (to protect their co-
workers?). Powerful driver in the workplace i.e. maintain identity professional to preserve stability i.e. change is resisted; 

 

The risk associated with cross-authority politics i.e. the size, influence and control of the respective LAs.  

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 70



7. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
It is clear from my various discussions, with your inclusion leads, that the notion of 
consulting further on a model of unified regional delivery, for the existing LA SI Services, 
is not universally welcomed. 
 
I’ve set out the explanations and my reasons for citing these reluctances, within this paper. 
Accordingly, I have appraised for the LA Chief Officers group, three options going forward; 
 

i.) Option 1: Status quo i.e. no change but with some augmentation to the existing 
SLA arrangements, which builds on the pre-existing cross-border alliances.  

 
Appraisal judgement – nonthreatening choice; little change and probably 
welcomed by a number of the LAs. Overall risk rating would be low i.e. Green 

 
ii.) Option 2: In this scenario, CSC would look to create two, sub-regional sensory 

impairment services i.e. SubR 1. RCT + Merthyr + Bridgend SubR 2. Vale of 
Glamorgan + Cardiff.  

 
This would offer a modest scale of improvement, above and beyond the existing 
SLAs/parochial partnerships, across what I indicate would be the two sub-regions.  

 
There is some attainable benefit to be realised vis-à-vis the formation of two sub-
regional SI services i.e. they would align to one of two, prevailing Health Boards. 

 
Nonetheless, it would seem oddly inexplicable to take these small steps, towards 
realising some of the evident and tangible benefits of a full regional SI service, and 
not consider moving forward with a full consultation on a RSIS. 

 
However, this might be considered, by the respective LAs, as a graduated and 
pragmatic approach toward the expansion to a full, regional SI service, in the future? 
Overall risk rating would be low i.e. Green 

 
Appraisal judgement – measured choice; minor change and probably welcomed 
by a number of the LAs 

   
iii.) Option 3: Move forward with and consult on, developing, publishing and ultimately 

implement a regional SI service model. Experience indicates this process could take 
up to nine months from start to sign up.  

 
I believe this option would strategically future proof these very important, individual 
and exclusive ALN services for C&YP and their families.  

 
Appraisal judgement – challenging; major change not entirely welcomed by a 
number of the LAs, nevertheless the potential benefits and rewards for C&YP, 
families and stakeholders could be significant. It would provide a level of strategic 
and operational resilience unparalleled by the two other options detailed above.  

 
Overall risk rating would be medium/high i.e. amber/red 

 
  

Page 71



 
Conclusively, there are significant and inherent high levels of risk associated with taking 
forward Option 3.  
 
Without an explicit consensus of support from all of the local authorities; respective 
Politicians, Corporate Management Teams and key players who would be responsible for 
the delivery and implementation of a RSIS.  
 
To progress this strategic option, without an unequivocal agreement/backing by the groups 
above would result in adverse publicity for Political Leaders/CEO/Chief Officers, from the 
respective LAs.  
 
The collateral fallout from any public oppositional exposure would make the task of 
convincing families, schools and stakeholders of the merits of a regional SI service, very 
difficult.  
 
In my opinion, the critical question to be answered is;’ how risk-averse the respective LAs 
are for change?’  
 
I think the value of change or not, is summed up impeccably by Ex USA President Bill 
Clinton who said:  
 

“The price of doing the same old thing is far higher than the price of 
change.” 
 
A Regional SI Service - South East Consortium 

 
Colleagues will be aware, the South East Consortium operates a regional SI service which 
has recently undergone a Value for Money Review. This regional SI service supports 
approx. 1,900 families. 
 
In regards the existing regional SI Service cited mentioned above; a further possibility 
might be to ‘test stakeholder’s appetite’ by setting up a half-day seminar; inviting parents, 
schools and local CVS organisations who are currently and positively working with and 
supporting the South East Consortium’s regional SIS.  
 
This would enable them to meet with representatives from CSC’s parents, school 
representatives, key SI Staff and other stakeholders, to hear about their experiences of a 
regional SI service.  
 
They would be able to ask questions, without contrary backstories and uncorroborated 
half-truths, enabling them to understand the benefits of a unified, integrated and dynamic 
SI service across five SEC LAs.  
 

 
 
Mark Geraghty 
SEND Consultant 
 
September 2020 
  

Page 72

https://www.torfaen.gov.uk/en/Related-Documents/SEN/SenCom-Independent-Review-2020.pdf


 
APPENDICES 
 

I. A Summary of the Support and Interventions Offered by Sensory Impairment 
Services 

 
The following statements have been simplified and are intended to provide a broad outline 
of the SI services currently delivered across the five Welsh LAs. Its purpose is to 
summarise and illustrate an operational framework which will be referenced in subsequent 
sections o this paper. 
 
Local Sensory Inclusion Services (SIS8) are specialist teams which support C&YP with 
sensory impairments; in early years, educational settings and across local communities in 
Wales.  
 
They are staffed by trained Teachers of the Deaf (QToDs), Qualified Teachers of the 
Visually Impaired (QTVIs), Qualified Teachers of MSI and other specialist support staff. All 
of whom provide an all-in-one service from the point of diagnosis until the child or young 
person leaves full-time education (and occasionally beyond). 
 
In broad terms SIS support; children, young people, families, colleagues in health, 
education and other multi-agency settings, to meet the specific educational/ALN of C&YP 
with sensory impairment.  
 
SIS commonly receive recommendations from health agencies but also parents/carers, 
schools and other stakeholder agencies, but always concerning medical advice regarding 
hearing and/or visual loss. 
 
a)  Hearing impairments - There are two main types of deafness. The first happens when 

there is a fault in the inner ear – usually in the cochlea. This is called ‘sensorineural 
deafness’ and is permanent.  

 
The level of hearing loss may be described as mild, moderate, severe or profound and 
may not be the same in each ear, with only a few children totally deaf.  
 
Amplification of residual hearing may be made possible with a hearing aid. The more 
profound the hearing loss, the greater the likelihood that the child will be given a cochlear 
implant, which allows electrical signals to be sent directly to the auditory nerve, providing 
a sensation of hearing. 
 
The second type of deafness happens when sounds fail to pass efficiently through the 
outer and middle ear to the cochlea and auditory nerve. This is most commonly caused by 
a build-up of fluid in the middle ear, often referred to as ‘glue’ ear.  
 
This is known as ‘conductive deafness’ and is the most common type of hearing loss. A 
conductive loss is likely to fluctuate and be temporary. It is often treated by inserting 
grommets into the eardrum: ventilation tubes which allow fresh air to enter the middle ear 
to keep it free of fluid. 
  

                                            
8 I have generalised all the various service titles into a single generic term – Sensory Inclusion Service.  

Page 73



Assessment and Supporting Children & Young People with Hearing Loss 
 
Most children with a significant sensorineural hearing loss will have been identified before 
they enter an early year setting. Other children, particularly those with a fluctuating 
conductive loss, may not. Early years practitioners have an important role to play in 
noticing and recording aspects of a child’s development that might indicate a hearing loss.  
 
The following signs are indicative children with a hearing loss: 
 

 Delayed development of speech 

 Watching your face and lips carefully when you’re speaking. 

 Often failing to respond when called by name. 

 Pausing after an instruction has been given, then watching other children to see 
what to do. 

 Speaking unusually loudly or quietly. 
 
A significant hearing loss can have a major impact on other aspects of a child’s 
development – particularly on communication and social interaction skills. The child may 
use sign language, speech or a combination of the two. Unless steps are taken to help the 
child feel confident in social situations, they are likely to be withdrawn – remaining on the 
edge of groups of children or preferring a one-to-one activity with an adult. 
 
How Do Sensory Services help and Support Practitioners? 
 
Firstly, it is vital to work closely with the child’s parents. They will have an enormous 
amount of information about the nature of their child’s hearing loss and the best means of 
communication. Secondly, a child with a significant hearing loss is likely to be having 
regular input from a specialist teacher of the Deaf (QToD) or specialist support assistant.  
 
It is important to make time to seek their advice and input, where required. Practitioners 
can help the young child with hearing impairment by: 
 

 providing additional visual clues to support information you give verbally; 

 making sure that the child can see your face and lips when you’re speaking, and 
that you gain their attention before speaking; 

 checking that the child has understood you, repeating or giving extra clues if 
necessary; 

 considering learning sign language; 

 monitoring noise levels – a hearing aid amplifies everything, not just your voice. 
 
b) Visual impairments - The term ‘visually impaired’ is used to describe a child who has 

sight problems severe enough to interfere with their learning. The majority of children 
with a visual impairment still have some vision – only five per cent are totally blind.  

 
Most blind or partially sighted children have their sight problem from birth, though a small 
number lose their sight later in life following illness or an accident. 
  

Page 74



Assessment and Supporting Children & Young People with a Visual Impairment 
 
Most children with a marked visual impairment will arrive in the nursery with their condition 
already diagnosed. Early years practitioners’ observations can still contribute to the 
ongoing assessment of the child’s functional use of vision, linking with the Qualified 
Teacher of Visually Impaired Children (QTVI). 
 
Practitioners can look out for signs of impaired vision in children by noticing the child who: 
 

 displays undue sensitivity to light; 

 closes or covers one eye when attempting visual tasks; 

 often trips or bumps into things; 

 holds books unusually close to their face; 

 tilts their head to an unusual angle when trying to focus. 
 
Since 80 per cent of communication is non-verbal, the young child with impaired vision is 
at a huge disadvantage when developing interpersonal skills. Unable to discern the facial 
expressions of others, they cannot ‘read’ reactions to things they say and find verbal turn-
taking very difficult. These children cannot learn by watching, only by doing. 
 
Restricted vision also leads to restricted mobility. In a typically developing child, vision is a 
huge motivator: seeing the desired toy just out of reach prompts the child to stretch for it 
or crawl towards it, but the visually impaired child doesn’t know the toy exists. 
 
The development of play – leading to concepts such as conservation, classification and 
one-to-one correspondence – is also negatively affected by visual impairment. When a 
child cannot observe others at play, it limits their skills. 
 
Finally, independence and self-help skills are significantly delayed in a child with sight 
problems. 
 
How Do Sensory Services help and Support Teaching Practitioners? 
 
Close links with parents and specialist professionals are vital. Additionally, practitioners 
can help the young child with a visual impairment by: 
 

 making wall displays colourful, clear and uncluttered; 

 offering toys with good colour contrast and books with simple illustrations; 

 offering activities that draw upon all the senses; 

 saying the child’s name before giving instructions; 

 giving individual demonstrations of tasks; 

 warning of changes in routine; 

 giving the child longer to explore new toys and activities; 

 considering providing a secure, familiar place to play; 

 if a toy rolls out of reach, leading the child towards it to encourage independent 
exploration; 

 describing the things, you or others do, to the child; 

 helping the child connect with others and to link present with past experiences; 

 encouraging other children to approach the child; 

 taking care not to overprotect the child, becoming a barrier between them and 
others. 

Page 75



 
c) Dual sensory loss (sometimes erroneously referred to as deafblindness) 
 
Additionally, when a C&YP has difficulty seeing and hearing, they can be referred to as 
having a dual sensory loss (incorrectly referred to as deafblind). 
 
Usually, such C&YP will have difficulty with communication, mobilising and accessing 
information. 
 
The majority of people in the UK with dual sensory loss are older adults, the incidence in 
C&YP is very low much lower than HI and VI C&YP. There are genetic causes such as 
Usher Syndrome and also dual sensory impairment can be caused by injury or infection. 
 
Dual sensory loss can often be misdiagnosed especially when it is part of a complex, 
comorbid condition. 
 

II. Prevailing Strategic Imperatives (key drivers in appraising the value of  
consulting further on a regional SI service, or not):  

 
I have not tried to respond to all of the bullet points, below, but publish these as an aide 
memoir for LA Officers when considering the merits of - change or no change? A robust 
Value for Money Review would, however, look to assess and evaluate each of these 
descriptors.     
 

 Are the current service delivery models still fit for purpose and do they represent 
‘value for money?’ 

 
 What alternative delivery models could be considered which would ensure, as a 

minimum, that the five LAs continue to meet their statutory responsibilities? 
 
 What are the benefits and risks to consulting further on a joint arrangement?  
 
 How would you ensure that a regional SI service identifies ALN/SI children’s needs, 

appropriately? 
 
 Safeguard C&YP’s ALN so they can continue to be met now, and in the foreseeable 

future? 
 
 Specialist interventions can be carried out efficiently, effectively and by 

appropriately qualified staff? 
 
 Would a regional SI service have the capacity to support, explicitly, C&YP’s 

preparation for life, as an adult? (this will include living independently, entering paid 
employment and/or accessing higher education thus participate as valued and 
valuable members in ‘their communities’?) 

 
 How a local (and regional?) SI services would ensure it has sufficient resources, 

remains sustainable and continues to represent value for money?  
 

 Can local (and regional?) SI services continue to build inclusive capacity in 
educational settings and prepare families to support their children as young adults 
and beyond, as the trends in the SI population vacillate? 

Page 76



 
 Could a regional service (or a version of it) work harmoniously and effectively, in 

each locality areas, responding to ALNs while according to the local context? 
 

 What quality improvement lessons can be learnt from best practice, elsewhere?  
 
 

III. Sensory Impairment Workforces – Current Legislative Context 
 
The Requirement Hold a Mandatory Qualification (MQ) in Hearing/Visual and/or 
Multi-sensory Impairment 
 
I have searched, exhaustively, the legislative requirements for teachers to hold the 
Mandatory Qualification (MQ too teach/support C&YP with a hearing, visual or multi-
sensory impairment (HI/VI & MSI). 
 
The Department for Education (England) which has legal oversight for ensuring all 
teachers hold a MQ and who are required to ensure training providers meet the required 
standards for delivering the training, specify:  
 
‘To teach a class of pupils with hearing impairment (HI), vision impairment (VI), or a multi-
sensory impairment (MSI), a teacher must hold a mandatory qualification. This 
qualification is required in addition to qualified teacher status’. 
 
The requirement for peripatetic or advisory teachers to hold this qualification is not the 
same i.e. it’s not a mandatory prerequisite, as it is for those who teach a class of wholly or 
mainly HI/VI/MSI, C&YP. 
 
Consequently, theoretically, Welsh LAs could employ HI/VI/MSI teachers to support 
discrete C&YP i.e. not taught in a class of wholly or mainly HI/VI and/or MSI C&YP, in 
inclusive mainstream or special school settings and who don’t hold an MQ.  
 
However, to complete a statutory assessment of a child who has a hearing/visual and/or 
multi-sensory impairment, LA’s must ensure this part of the assessment is carried out by 
a teacher holding the relevant MQ.  
 
Theoretically, LAs could ‘buy-in’ a teacher holding the appropriate MQ to undertake these 
assessments or employ one teacher from each MQ area, who specifically completed these 
legal appraisals for the LA. 
 
Notwithstanding this, I have also sought advice from NatSIP on this specific matter. They 
confirm my interpretation of the law and affirm: 
 
… agree with your interpretation of the law, as it stands. As far as we understand the MQ 
does apply to Wales. Current legislation and Code of Practice (England) do say that the 
MQ is a ‘must’ for a class and is a 'should' for visiting teachers. Mandatory 'no', but 
recommended 'yes'!  
 
The MQ is required for statutory contributions to assessments, EHCPs, etc. (or the current 
equivalent in Wales, Statements) NatSIP 2020 
  

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/mandatory-qualifications-specialist-teachers
https://www.natsip.org.uk/


Almost all C&YP on ALN support are educated in mainstream schools (see Table 1) rather 
than specialist settings (or SRC). Schools in Wales have a high level of autonomy in how 
they support children with ALN, guided by the current ALN Code of Practice9.  
 
Schools can choose to seek the support of particular professionals/specialist support 
and/or programmes or to provide their staff with training in related areas. The exception 
would be where a child’s statement of ALN specifies the type and level of specialist 
teacher/SI support intervention. In the case of C&YP with Sensory Impairments10, their 
frequency and distribution of incidence are extremely idiosyncratic i.e. exceptionally low 
and irregular in occurrence, by comparison with other areas of ALN. 
 
 

IV. Individual Provision Maps for Each LA 
 
This section itemises the SI Service provision, workforce and C&YP population for each of 
the partner LAs, in the Central Wales consortium. A summary of these individual provision 
maps can be found in Section 4. Table 3 of the position paper.    
 
Bridgend LA 
 
Provision Map Bridgend LA – Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing March 
2020 
 

Number of children & 
young people (C&YP) 
supported by the LA’s SI 
service (maintained 
EY/LA school settings) 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

266 78 7 0 

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in specialist  
LA resource bases 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

7 0 0 0 

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in LA special 
school settings  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

23 26 8 0 

Have the numbers of 
C&YP on your LA’s 
caseloads increased or 
decreased, in the last 
year? 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

Number of fte SI teachers 
employed centrally 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

3 1.8 0 0 

Number of fte SI support 
staff employed centrally 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

5 5 0 0 

Number of fte SI teachers 
holding or undertaking a 
mandatory qualification 
(MQ)  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 0 0 0 

                                            
9 I understand a new ALN Code of Practice will be published in early 2021 

10 A sensory impairment is when one of the senses – sight, hearing, smell, touch, taste or spatial awareness – is not working as it 

should. These children have problems with hearing, vision and/or both referred to as a dual sensory impairment. 

Page 78



 
Provision Map Bridgend LA – Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing March 
2020 
 

Number of fte SI support 
staff holding or 
undertaking a specialist 
qualification related to 
HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

3 2 0 0 

Areas of SI provision 
provided, via an SLA, to 
another local LA 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 0 0 0 

Number of specialist 
primary resource bases11 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 * 0 0 0 

Number of specialist 
secondary resource 
bases12 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 * 0 0 0 

Number of fte SI resource 
base teachers holding or 
undertaking a mandatory 
qualification (MQ)  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 0 0 0 

Number of fte SI resource 
base support staff holding 
or undertaking a 
specialist qualification 
related to HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify e.g. 
Physical 
Impaired Staff 

2 0 0 0 

Number of C&YP in 
specialist SI/ALN 
placements outside the 
LA’s maintained provision 
e.g. independent or 
NMSS schools or 
colleges   

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 0 0 0 

Number of qualified staff 
(MQ) recruited in the last 
five years? 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

0 1 0 0 

Number of unqualified 
staff (MQ) recruited in the 
last five years? 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

1 0 0 0 

Please leave this section 
empty 

    

 
  

                                            
11 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

12 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

Page 79



Cardiff LA 
 
Provision Map Cardiff LA - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing March 2020 

Number of children & 
young people (C&YP) 
supported by the LA’s 
SI service (maintained 
EY/LA school 
settings) 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

220 (not incl 
HIRB or OLA) 
12 home 
14 nursery 

124 
14 home 
7 nursery 

3 
0 home 
1 nursery 

 

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in specialist  
LA resource bases 
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

36 HI RB 
4 other SRB 

10   (NB there’s 
no VI base in 
Cardiff- these are 
children in 
learning bases 
supported by VI 
service)                    

2   

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in LA 
special school 
settings  
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

25 39                         8  

Have the numbers of 
C&YP on your LA’s 
caseloads increased 
or decreased, in the 
last year? 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased  X 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

Number of fte SI 
teachers employed 
centrally 
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

5.8  6.8 1  

Number of fte SI 
support staff 
employed centrally 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 2 1  

Number of fte SI 
teachers holding or 
undertaking a 
mandatory 
qualification (MQ)  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

5.8 
 

8 1 Trainee sp 
teacher VI x2 
trainee sp 
teacher MSI 
x1 

Number of fte SI 
support staff holding 
or undertaking a 
specialist qualification 
related to HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 2 1  

Areas of SI provision 
provided, via an SLA, 
to another local LA 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 VOG VOG  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

Page 80



Provision Map Cardiff LA - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing March 2020 

Number of specialist 
primary resource 
bases13 
 

1 0 0  

Number of specialist 
secondary resource 
bases14 
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 0 0  

Number of fte SI 
resource base 
teachers holding or 
undertaking a 
mandatory 
qualification (MQ)  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

6 HIRB (NB- 
staff employed 
by the schools) 

   

Number of fte SI 
resource base 
support staff holding 
or undertaking a 
specialist qualification 
related to HI/VI/MSI 
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify e.g. 
Physical 
Impaired Staff 

12 HIRB (NB- 
staff employed 
by the schools) 

   

Number of C&YP in 
specialist SI/ALN 
placements outside 
the LA’s maintained 
provision e.g. 
independent or NMSS 
schools or colleges   

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

4    

Number of qualified 
staff (MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

4 (incl HIRB) 0 0  

Number of unqualified 
staff (MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

5 (incl HIRB) 
 

3  1 VI teacher 
undertaking 
MSI training 

Please leave this 
section empty 

    

 
  

                                            
13 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

14 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

Page 81



 
Merthyr Tydfil LA 
Provision Map Merthyr Tydfil LA - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing 
March 2020 

Number of children 
& young people 
(C&YP) supported 
by the LA’s SI 
service (maintained 
EY/LA school 
settings) 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

42 0 0  

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in 
specialist  LA 
resource bases 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 0 0  

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in LA 
special school 
settings  

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

4 9 1  

Have the numbers 
of C&YP on your 
LA’s caseloads 
increased or 
decreased, in the 
last year? 

 
 increased 
 
x decreased 

 
 increased 
 
X  decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

Number of fte SI 
teachers employed 
centrally 
 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 0 0  

Number of fte SI 
support staff 
employed centrally 
 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 4.515 0  

Number of fte SI 
teachers holding or 
undertaking a 
mandatory 
qualification (MQ)  

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 0 0  

Number of fte SI 
support staff 
holding or 
undertaking a 
specialist 
qualification related 
to HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 4.5   

Areas of SI 
provision provided, 
via an SLA, to 
another local LA 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

N/A Yes   

Number of 
specialist primary 
resource bases16 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 0 0 0 

                                            
15 4.5 LSAs are supporting statemented pupils and budget is seconded to schools  

16 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT delegated 
directly to schools 

Page 82



Provision Map Merthyr Tydfil LA - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing 
March 2020 

Number of 
specialist 
secondary resource 
bases17 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 0 0 0 

Number of fte SI 
resource base 
teachers holding or 
undertaking a 
mandatory 
qualification (MQ)  

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 0 0 0 

Number of fte SI 
resource base 
support staff 
holding or 
undertaking a 
specialist 
qualification related 
to HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify e.g. 
Physical 
Impaired Staff 

0 0 0 0 

Number of C&YP in 
specialist SI/ALN 
placements outside 
the LA’s maintained 
provision e.g. 
independent or 
NMSS schools or 
colleges   

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 0 0 0 

Number of qualified 
staff (MQ) recruited 
in the last five 
years? 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

118 119 0 0 

Number of 
unqualified staff 
(MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 

Hearing Impaired Visually Impaired Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

0 320 0 0 

Please leave this 
section empty 

    

 
  

                                            
17 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT delegated 
directly to schools 

18 1 x TOD 

19 1 x Grade 2 Braille LSA 

20 3 x Braille LSAs (training for Scottish sensory qualification) 

Page 83



 
Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) 
Provision Map RCT - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing March 2020 

Number of children & 
young people (C&YP) 
supported by the LA’s 
SI service (maintained 
EY/LA school settings) 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

184 111 
(23) 

(2)  

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in specialist  
LA resource bases 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

9 0 0  

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in LA 
special school settings  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

13 16 2  

Have the numbers of 
C&YP on your LA’s 
caseloads increased or 
decreased, in the last 
year? 

 
× increased 
 
 decreased 

 
× increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

Number of fte SI 
teachers employed 
centrally 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

3.2 2.5 0  

Number of fte SI 
support staff employed 
centrally 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1.2 8 0  

Number of fte SI 
teachers holding or 
undertaking a 
mandatory qualification 
(MQ)  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

3.2 2.5 0  

Number of fte SI 
support staff holding or 
undertaking a 
specialist qualification 
related to HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

2 8   

Areas of SI provision 
provided, via an SLA, 
to another local LA 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify   

QTVI 
Mobility 

  

Number of specialist 
primary resource 
bases21 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1 0 0  

Number of specialist 
secondary resource 
bases22 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

0 0 0  

Number of fte SI 
resource base 
teachers holding or 
undertaking a 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1    

                                            
21 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

22 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

Page 84



Provision Map RCT - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing March 2020 

mandatory qualification 
(MQ)  

Number of fte SI 
resource base support 
staff holding or 
undertaking a 
specialist qualification 
related to HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify e.g. 
Physical 
Impaired Staff 

2    

Number of C&YP in 
specialist SI/ALN 
placements outside the 
LA’s maintained 
provision e.g. 
independent or NMSS 
schools or colleges   

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

3    

Number of qualified 
staff (MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

    

Number of unqualified 
staff (MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

1 
 

1   

Please leave this 
section empty 

    

 
Vale of Glamorgan 
Provision Map Vale of Glamorgan - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing 
March 2020 

Number of children & 
young people (C&YP) 
supported by the LA’s SI 
service (maintained 
EY/LA school settings) 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

*95 
Including  
St Cyres 
mainstream 
and Cogan 
mainstream 
pupils 

     38   

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in specialist  
LA resource bases 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

14 3   

Number of SI C&YP 
supported in LA special 
school settings  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

13 22 1  

Have the numbers of 
C&YP on your LA’s 
caseloads increased or 
decreased, in the last 
year? 

 
X increased 
 
 decreased 

 
X increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

 
 increased 
 
 decreased 

Number of fte SI 
teachers employed 
centrally 
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

3 inc Specialist 
LA resource 
bases 

1.3 0.2  

Page 85



Provision Map Vale of Glamorgan - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing 
March 2020 

Number of fte SI support 
staff employed centrally 
 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

7 working term 
time only 

5.2   

Number of fte SI 
teachers holding or 
undertaking a mandatory 
qualification (MQ)  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

3  7 2 1 teacher in VI 
and one in MSI 
are taking the 
VI course 

Number of fte SI support 
staff holding or 
undertaking a specialist 
qualification related to 
HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

7 BSL varying 
levels all at 
least have 
level 1 BSL 

5 1  

Areas of SI provision 
provided, via an SLA, to 
another local LA 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

 
*3 days 
annually 
 

One day per 
week Hab 
specialist to 
Cardiff LA 

0  

Number of specialist 
primary resource bases23 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1* 0 0  

Number of specialist 
secondary resource 
bases24 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

1* 0 0  

Number of fte SI 
resource base teachers 
holding or undertaking a 
mandatory qualification 
(MQ)  

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

2    

Number of fte SI 
resource base support 
staff holding or 
undertaking a specialist 
qualification related to 
HI/VI/MSI 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify e.g. 
Physical 
Impaired Staff 

0 
 

   

Number of C&YP in 
specialist SI/ALN 
placements outside the 
LA’s maintained 
provision e.g. 
independent or NMSS 
schools or colleges   

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify  

2 4   

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

                                            
23 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

24 Please apply an asterisk to this section, if this aspect of the LA’s service is centrally funded i.e. the funding for this provision is NOT 
delegated directly to schools 

Page 86



Provision Map Vale of Glamorgan - Detailing Overall C&YP Numbers and SI Staffing 
March 2020 

Number of qualified staff 
(MQ) recruited in the last 
five years? 
 

0 1 Hab 
specialist 

0  

Number of unqualified 
staff (MQ) recruited in 
the last five years? 

Hearing 
Impaired 

Visually 
Impaired 

Multi-sensory 
Impaired 

Other - please 
specify 

0    

Please leave this section 
empty 

    

 
* Included in this figure is one-off information /advice that has been sent to schools / 
ALNCOs for example regarding pupils diagnosed with APD. Pupils have not been seen 
by ST.  
 
* 1 pupil is seen in Heronsbridge School 6 visits annually plus report writing 
1 a pupil with a statement is seen in Howells Independent School 3 visits a year including 

the annual review. 
 

V. Comparative SI C&YP Data (national and/or local)  
 
Included with this paper is selected comparative data which provides some trend indicators 
that highlight indicative changes, over the last 10 years. This data is taken from an annual, 
national survey across Wales undertaken by CRIDE (Consortium for Research in Deaf 
Education) since 2011 and which can be found on the BATOD website. 
 
I have also looked at the relative numbers of existing SI Service provisions across a few 
local LA. If the respective populations of each of the CSC LAs were combined it would 
create a total population of 1,048,991. For comparison purposes, populations of; 
 
 South Central Wales Region     1,048,99125 
 South East Consortium Regional SI Service  583,483 
 
 Gloucestershire LA       916,202 
 Bristol LA (which includes BANES and South Glos.)  913,503 
 Oxfordshire LA       700,000 
 
Each of these Local Authorities operate and sustain integrated and discrete SI Service. 
Bristol has a consortium arrangement, but delivers its SI services to each authority, 
independently, rather than as one regional service. 
 
What is more problematic to compare is the geography of each of these LAs. I suspect the 
infra-structures i.e. road networks in these LAs, maybe more travelable than a notional 
CSC region? I may, of course, be wrong with this assumption?     
  

                                            
 

Page 87

https://www.batod.org.uk/information/cride-reports/


Data Population of Deaf Children - Wales  
 
These figures are based on an all Wales survey return, from the 22 SI Services which 
operate in each LA. CRIDE cannot be expected to substantiate the veracity of the data 
they collect from each LA i.e. the survey assumes accurate and comparative data has 
been provided. These data sets reflect the discrete analysis of the respective LA SI 
services. 
 
Table 1 All Wales data sets:  

Year No of Deaf C&YP + or - 

2019 2,486 (5%) decrease 

2018 2,625 (0.9%) decrease 

2017 2,642 (11%) increase 

2016 2,374 (28%) decrease 

2015 3,288 (14%) increase 

2014 2,880 (0.8%) decrease 

2013 2,904 (6%) increase 

2012 2,743 (0.4%) decrease 

2011 2,755 Baseline 

 
Key Findings for Wales CRIDE 2019 
 

- SI Services reported that there are at least 2,486 deaf children26 in Wales; a 
reported decrease of 5% over the past year. Compare this to the CSC region; 4 
out of the 5 LAs confirm an increase in deaf children numbers, in the last year.  

 
- 80% of school-aged deaf children attend mainstream schools (where there is no 

specialist provision).  
 
- 9% attend mainstream schools with resource provisions,  
 
- 10% attend special schools not specifically for deaf children.  
 
- 1% were home educated.  
 
- 28% of deaf children are recorded as having an additional special educational need. 
 
- 6% of deaf children use an additional spoken language other than English in the 

home. 
 

  Furthermore, of the C&YP (up to 19) with a severe or profound hearing loss;  
 

i. 66% communicate using spoken English only in school or other education 
settings as their main language,  

ii. 24% mainly use spoken English together with signed support.  
iii. 3% mainly use spoken Welsh,  
iv. 1% mainly use spoken Welsh together with signed support.  
v. 6% mainly use British Sign Language.  

  

                                            
26 Please note that for the purpose of this section of the survey we use the term ‘children’ to include children and young people up 

to the age of 19 years, 11 months (unless specified in the question). 

Page 88



- The most common post-school destination for deaf young people is further 
education, with 54% taking this option across Wales.  

 
- There are at least 66 fte Teacher of the Deaf posts with no LA having a vacancy (at 

the time of the survey); of these 66 staff working as Teachers of the Deaf, 86% held 
the mandatory qualification i.e. 14% staff did not hold an MQ 

 
- The number of qualified Teachers of the Deaf in employment working in a 

peripatetic or advisory teacher role, in a resource provision and/or in a special 
school or college not specifically for deaf children, has increased slightly by 1% over 
the past year.  

 
- Notwithstanding this, over the long-term, it has fallen by 21% (one fifth) since the 

CRIDE survey started in 2011. 
 
- Peripatetic or advisory Teachers of the Deaf have an average theoretical caseload 

of 59 deaf children. This has decreased from 73 in 2017 and from 71 in 2015.  
 
- 45% of peripatetic Teachers of the Deaf are over the age of 50 and therefore are 

likely to retire in the next 10 to 15 years.  
 

- There are at least 100.55 fte other specialist support staff working with deaf children 
in Wales, an increase from 87.7 reported in 2017.  

 
- Fewer MQ Teachers but more trained support staff – is this an artefact of the ageing 

MQ population or a change in how C&YP with SI are supported?  
 

- There are 24 resource provisions across all 15 services; this represents a decrease 
from 2018. A positive indicator of successful inclusion.  

 
- 27% of services report that they collect data on Key Stage 4 outcomes for all deaf 

children. The same proportion does the same, but only for deaf children on their 
caseload. 

 
The Population of Visually Impaired Children – (English data) 2019 
 
Turning to the data for C&YP with visual impairments; lamentably, I can only access/find 
detailed statistics specific for visually impaired C&YP in England.  
 
The only data I can trace on visual impairments for C&YP in Wales includes no discrete 
stats on C&YP.  
 
Consequently, I am assuming that the corresponding data for C&YP living/educated in 
Wales, follows the equivalent trends to those in England. This data is taking from the Welsh 
Schools census (StatsWales).  
 
England - total population - 57,000,000m  ~ school population 8,890,357 (15.5%) 
 
Wales - total population  - 3,316,000   ~ school population 435,280 (13.1%) 
  
  

Page 89



Key findings 
 

 12,687 pupils with an EHCP or on ‘SEN support’ were recorded as having VI as 
their primary SEN. This is 397 more pupils with VI as their primary SEN than were 
recorded in 2018. 

 

 Pupils with VI as their primary SEN represented 0.16% of the total pupil population 
in 2019. 

 

 This is lower than the 0.2% prevalence estimate of VI based upon the WHO 
classification of childhood VI and blindness. 

 

 The majority of pupils with VI as their primary SEN (73.4%) were on ‘SEN support’; 
only 26.6% had an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) or statement. 

 

 55.3% of pupils with VI as their primary SEN were boys. In comparison, within the 
whole population of pupils with SEN, 66.5% were boys. 

 

 74.5% of pupils with VI as their primary SEN were White, and 69.5% were classified 
as White British, while 13.9% were Asian. 

 

 17.5% of pupils with VI as their primary SEN spoke a language other than English 
as their first language. 16.3% of all pupils with SEN spoke a language other than 
English as their first language. 

 

 One in two (49%) pupils with VI as their primary SEN attended primary schools in 
2019; 44.3% were in secondary education and 6.7% went to special schools.  

 
This compares with 55.5% of all pupils with SEN who were in primary schools, 34.2% in 
secondary education and 10.3% in special schools in 2019 
 

 384 special schools in England had approved provision for pupils with VI in 2019. 
Only 844 pupils with VI as their primary SEN were recorded as attending special 
schools in 2019. 

 

 24% of pupils with VI as their primary SEN were entitled to and claiming free school 
meals (FSM) in 2019. This compares with 28.3% of all pupils with SEN and 15.4% 
of all pupils who were entitled to and claiming FSM. 

 
In summary in, January 2019, the number of pupils recorded with VI as their primary 
SEN (England) was 12,687. This is 798 more than were recorded in 2017 and 397 more 
than in 2018. The 3-years trend infers that the number of pupils with a VI (England) is 
increasing, year in year. 
  

Page 90



 
Pie Chart of Region Sensory Impairment Population  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key headlines: 

 Four out of the five LAs report increases in HI/VI populations, over the last five 
years. 

 A high number of teachers holding MQ (or undergoing mandatory training) - 29.6 
FTE. 

 High numbers of qualified support staff (or undergoing training) to compliment 
teachers - 36.9. 

 17% of HI/VI/MSI C&YP attend special school placements. 
 7% of HI/VI/MSI C&YP attend resources bases (not necessarily SI specific). 
 9 C&YP attend out of authority placements – the average cost for a residential 

placement £120,000k (Baker-Tilley Report 2012) suggesting total (average) cost 
across the region = £1,080,000m. 

 All the LAs should be commended for their unambiguous commitment to employing 
/recruiting and/or training teachers and support staff, in SI. 

 
VI. Articles/websites and references used to support the publication of this 

document. 
 

1. WLGA Publications - Collaboration and Regionalisation 
http://www.wlga.wales/sharedfiles/PublicationLibrary.aspx?topic=520  

 
2. Support for children and young people with vision impairment in educational 

settings - https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-12/191209-support-
for-children-and-young-people-with-vision-impairment-in-educational-settings.pdf  

 
3. DfE/View Data (England) - https://viewweb.org.uk/dfe-official-data-children-young-

people-vision-impairment/  
 

4. BATOD data - https://viewweb.org.uk/dfe-official-data-children-young-people-
vision-impairment/  

 
 

Page 91

https://www.nasschools.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2014/08/NASS-Cost-Comparison-Report-October-2012.pdf
http://www.wlga.wales/sharedfiles/PublicationLibrary.aspx?topic=520
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-12/191209-support-for-children-and-young-people-with-vision-impairment-in-educational-settings.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-12/191209-support-for-children-and-young-people-with-vision-impairment-in-educational-settings.pdf
https://viewweb.org.uk/dfe-official-data-children-young-people-vision-impairment/
https://viewweb.org.uk/dfe-official-data-children-young-people-vision-impairment/
https://viewweb.org.uk/dfe-official-data-children-young-people-vision-impairment/
https://viewweb.org.uk/dfe-official-data-children-young-people-vision-impairment/


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

National Fostering Framework - Regional Working 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides Cabinet with information regarding the proposal to align 

fostering recruitment across RCT, Merthyr Tydfil and Bridgend to create a Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Regional front door for Fostering Services in order to handle all fostering 
recruitment enquiries, process applications, co-ordinate the marketing function and 
support potential foster carers through the process of becoming a foster carer. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 Cabinet note the information contained within this report and the commencement of 

specific proposals to work collaboratively with Bridgend CBC to extend the current 
regional front door for fostering recruitment across the whole Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
region be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The challenges facing fostering services nationally and the case for change are well 

documented through the National Fostering Framework (NFF) ‘First Thoughts’ paper 
and Phase One and Two Reports.  These can be summarised as: 

 

 ‘growing concerns about the overall effectiveness and sustainability of fostering 
services in Wales; 

 placement pressures and our current inability to match needs and placement 
options well enough; and 

Date Written January 2021 

Report Author Alastair Cope 

Service Area Children’s Services  

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non exempt  

Committee Date 24th March 2021 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5



 difficulties in recruiting foster carers and in providing them with the range of skills 
and support needed for the complex and challenging work they undertake.’ 
(National Fostering Framework, 2016, p.3). 

 
3.2  The NFF phase 3 report sets out the first stage principles of regional working within 

its 8 work-streams.  The streams we want to focus on in this report are:  
 

 Work-stream 2: Development of Regional Work programmes based on regional 
priorities identified by the national performance framework. 

 Workstream 4: Create an All Wales brand for local authority fostering.  Establish 
a marketing strategy at regional and central level for the brand. 

 Workstream 5: Increase capacity within the regions to respond to additional 
enquiries following the marketing activity. 

 
3.3  All three Local Authorities have experienced difficulties in the recruitment of foster 

carers.  Each year foster carers are lost to each authority due to retirement, 
sickness, change of career, transfer to Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) and 
other life events.  It is not only necessary to ensure that these numbers are replaced 
in order to meet the demand we have currently, but also that year on year we 
increase the number of Local Authority foster carers in Cwm Taf Morgannwg in order 
to meet the future demands of children who are Looked After.  

 
3.4 A lack of Local Authority foster carers can lead to an increased use of Independent 

Fostering Agency (IFA) placements at additional costs to the Council.  The 
placements offered by the independent agencies are also more likely to be out of 
county which creates additional pressures, complexity and costs in relation to staff 
time and expenses. 

 
3.5 The learning from the experiences of IFA’s on the success they have had in 

recruiting foster carers demonstrates the importance of a responsive customer 
focused approach when recruiting foster carers.  Evidence suggests that prospective 
foster carers are more likely to choose to apply to an agency if they receive a prompt 
and timely response, hence the need for a dedicated recruitment resource and a 
comprehensive customer focused approach at our front door.  The learning from 
these organisations also suggests that a dedicated marketing specialist is essential 
to coordinate the marketing function. 

 
3.6 At present advertising, marketing and enquiries are managed in the following ways: 
 

RCT and Merthyr Tydfil 
 

From 1st April 2019, RCTCBC and MTCBC have been working in collaboration to 
operate a Regional Front Door for fostering recruitment.  The team consists of a 
Regional Development Manager, Regional Recruitment Officer and Regional 
Communications and Marketing Officer.  The recruitment team facilitates all 
enquiries, recruitment visits, marketing activity and initial visits up to the point of 
assessment.  Once at the point of assessment the applicant is transferred over to the 
Team manager responsible for fostering assessments in each LA.  The enquirer will 
contact the service via phone, email, web enquiry or online chat.  If necessary, a 
return phone call is completed within 24 hours and an initial visit (pre-assessment 

Page 94



screening) takes place within 5 working days of initial enquiry.  Following a positive 
Initial Visit, assessments need to be allocated within 10 working days. 

 
The following timescales are in place for responses to enquiries: 

 
- Initial enquiry - follow up call within 24 hours. 
- Initial Visit - within 5 Days of the initial enquiry or at a time convenient to the 

applicant. 
- Preparation Training - runs every 1-2 months on a regional basis (keeping in 

touch processes and early assessment work plans are in place whilst this is 
arranged. 

- Assessment - Completion 4 to 6 months from commencing assessment.   
 

The Regional Recruitment Officer coordinates all recruitment activity including 
maintaining databases and systems, making recruitment calls, completion of IV’s 
and processing application forms.  They also coordinate the regional skills to foster 
preapproval training. 

 
The Regional Marketing Officer coordinates all marketing activity in relation to 
fostering, including the development of a comprehensive marketing strategy for each 
LA, the development of materials, content and case studies, maintaining and 
facilitating each LA’s fostering Facebook pages, maintenance and updating of the 
regional fostering website and linking in with national priorities.  

 
Bridgend 

 
BCBC currently have a vacant post for a full-time development officer with 
responsibility for some recruitment and marketing activity, including the development 
of a recruitment strategy. 

 
In addition, the service has a shared marketing resource in the form of a staff 
member within the corporate communications department.  However, this post is not 
dedicated to fostering and facilitates a portfolio of marketing activity for several 
departments within the LA.  

 
The service handles enquiries through the following means: 

 
Initial enquiry received via email 
The current Development officer will contact the applicant and complete initial 
contact form (Screening). 
If the contact is positive and the applicant wants to proceed this is forwarded to a 
social worker to complete the initial visit. 

 
Initial enquiry by phone/ in person   
Whoever receives the contact within the team will complete the initial contact form, if 
they are a social worker, they will also arrange the initial visit during this call. 
Where possible, assessments are allocated to in-house social workers for 
completion. 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



3.7      Merthyr Tydfil Recruitment Data  
 

Year Enquiries Initial Visits Assessments 
Allocated 

  Number % of 
enquiries 

Number % of 
enquiries 

2018-19 21 15 75% 4 20% 

2019-20 23 15 65.2% 8 34.8% 

2020/21 
(to 31/01/21 only) 

19 13 68.4% 7 46.8% 

 
3.8  RCT Recruitment Data 
 

Year Enquiries Initial Visits Assessments 
Allocated 

  Number % of 
enquiries 

Number % of 
enquiries 

2018-19 146 24 16.4% 17 11.6% 

2019-20 143 40 30% 25 17.5% 

2020/21 
(to 31/01/21 only) 

113 46 40.7% 20 17.7% 

 
3.9      Bridgend Recruitment Data 
 

Year Enquiries Initial Visits Assessments 
Allocated 

  Number % of 
enquiries 

Number % of 
enquiries 

2018-19 91 30 33.3% 14 15.5% 

2019-20 142 49 34.5% 14 9.8% 

2020/21 
(to 31/01/21 only) 

     

 
3.10 Timescales for current Cwm Taf Regional Front Door provision 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.11 We can see that in RCT and Merthyr, where a regional front door team has been in 

place since April 2019, whilst enquiries have stayed largely the same, the numbers 
proceeding into IV and onto full assessment have increased substantially.  This can 
be attributed to both a dedicated resource at the front door handling enquiries in a 
prompt and professional manner and the specific content, developed by the Regional 
Marketing Officer, available through the regional fostering website and social media 
platforms, allowing people to have all the information available prior to taking the first 
step of enquiring to become a foster carer.   

 
 

Follow up Call Initial Visit Allocated Assessment 

2020/21 1 day 4.9 days  30.1 days 

    

2019/20 1 day 11.9 days 55.1 days 

    

2018/19 4.8 days 35 days 66.2 days 

    

Page 96



 
3.12 The table in 3.10 shows the impact that having a dedicated resource at the front door 

has on reducing timescales between enquiry and allocation of assessment, therefore 
reducing the risk of applicants going to other agencies.  By providing a dedicated, 
responsive service we can ensure that all applicants have the opportunity to 
progress into assessment as quickly as possible, whilst still gathering all the 
information needed to make informed decisions on whether or not applicants are 
suitable for fostering.   

 
3.13 By further investing in the area of marketing and recruitment and bringing these front 

door functions together, on a collaborative (and providing dedicated staff to the role 
of recruitment and marketing), this will continue to improve the amount of people 
hearing the message of fostering for your Local Authority,  the responsiveness 
towards enquiries, completing IV pre assessment screening within an appropriate 
time and the amount of applicants reaching assessment and therefore resulting in an 
increase in the amount of approved foster carers.  This will lead to a greater 
availability of local authority foster placements, better matching and less reliance on 
expensive IFA placements.  Shared resources and ideas will represent better value 
for money, an opportunity for regional recruitment campaigns and provide a much-
improved service.    

 
3.14  A range of options were considered by the regional strategic group and an options 

paper was developed before it was decided that the preferred option was a complete 
collaboration involving the existing regional front door team completing the marketing 
and recruitment for BCBC in addition to RCT and Merthyr Tydfil.  The process will 
work as follows: 

 

 
 
3.15  There is a dedicated implementation plan to follow before the regional front door 

launch in April 2021 and the arrangements for the collaboration are as follows:   
 

 RCT CBC will remain the employer of the Regional Marketing Officer, who will 
have the responsibility for fostering marketing for all three LA’s, including the 
development of a recruitment and marketing strategy, implementing local and 
regional recruitment campaigns, developing content for the websites and social 

Regional Marketing Function to 
generate enquiries and promote 

fostering across each LA 
 

Front door to screen enquiries, 
complete recruitment call, 

complete IV form and pass on 
to relevant LA 

 

Merthyr Assessment RCT Assessment Bridgend Assessment 

Page 97



media channels and leading on national recruitment and marketing priorities.  
Some corporate support will still be necessary with regards to marketing, 
including posting content on the Council’s main social media channels and 
website and website development.  

 Merthyr Tydfil CBC will remain the employer of the Regional Recruitment Officer 
who will have the responsibility for fostering recruitment across all three LA’s, 
including organising recruitment events, handling initial enquiries, completion of 
IV’s and recommendations, processing of application forms and being the point of 
contact up to the point of assessment.  

 The team will be managed by the Regional Development Manager for Fostering 
Services.  

 Any phone calls will be directed through a dedicated phone line in the RCT 
Contact Centre and web enquiries sent directly to the recruitment team through 
RCT’s CRM system. 

 Funding for the project has been identified through existing budgets and an 
apportioned cost has been agreed between the Authorities.  

 An allocation protocol has been agreed so that Merthyr Tydfil residents would be 
referred to Merthyr Tydfil fostering services, this agreement also considers those 
living outside Merthyr Tydfil and carers personal choice. 

 Each local authority would retain its own brand identity so that we can ensure a 
local fostering identity remains.  The Recruitment Officer would visit either on 
behalf of BCBC or on behalf of RCTCBC or on behalf of MTCBC and not as Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg, however some regional collaboration on marketing activity would 
be of benefit to all 3 LA’s.  

 A memorandum of understanding is being developed, setting out the 
responsibilities of each LA.  

 
3.16 Implementing these recommendations will strengthen the aim to increase the pool of 

local authority foster carers by increasing the number of enquiries received from the 
public about becoming a foster carer.  It is also envisaged that by focusing on this 
area improvements will also be made in the conversion rate from those who initially 
enquire going through to a full assessment (the more enquires you have the more 
assessments that can be completed). 

 
3.17 This will therefore create more local authority foster placements which will result in 

better matching, less reliance on Independent Foster Agencies (IFA’s), provide 
better value for money and improve outcomes for children looked after. 

 

4.0 SUMMARY OF STRENGTHS AND AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT 
 
4.1 Strengths: 

 Enables marketing expertise and marketing resource dedicated to fostering in all 
3 LA’s at fostering service level. 

 Would enable a speedy, consistent and robust response to enquiries across the 
region. 

 Responsive of current service has been effective so far in Merthyr Tydfil and RCT 
(similar model). 

 Alignment of recruitment processes across the region. 

 Cost saving from current practice for each LA (more for less). 

 Avoids duplication of work across the region. 

Page 98



 Would lay the ground for Foster Wales and provide a coordinated link with 
national priorities across the region. 

 Would enable regional marketing campaigns to take place, pooling resources to 
have a stronger impact across the local area. 

 Campaigns that haven’t been viable locally due to finance could take place 
regionally. 

 Future funding may be available through NFF/Foster Wales to adopt this 
approach, CTM would be a step ahead. 

 Sustain links and sharing of good practice between all 3 LA’s. 

 Common aim and shared agreement between all 3 LA’s means consistency and 
strengthens LA voice over IFA’s. 

 Local marketing strategies can be aligned, whist maintaining individuality. 

 Fully in line with Foster Wales ethos of shared marketing resource across whole 
of region. 

 Increase the rate of legitimate enquiries and in turn increase the number of foster 
carers being approved. 

 More opportunities to market and build improved brand image locally. 

 Data collection anticipated to better inform planning and marketing. 

 As more Local Authority carers are recruited, there will be less reliance on 
expensive IFA placements and therefore a financial saving for the authority. 

 
4.2 Areas for Development: 

 Aligned processes between front door and three separate assessment and 
support teams. 

 Linking in with development of Foster Wales. 

 Development and decisions about alignment of allowances and payments which 
currently differ in fees and allowances between both local authorities. 

 Potential for development of regional foster panel and pre-approval training. 

 Work needs to continue to develop Kinship care as this will still impact availability 
and capacity of staff to assess and support generic foster carers and placements. 

 Robust and regular regional meetings between LA’s need to be re-established to 
ensure the project is a success and a partnership approach is adopted.  

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This proposal sets out to deliver improvements by implementing this collaborative 

project within current budgets.  At this stage, no additional funding will be required.  
 
5.2 The financial contributions from each LA are outlined below: 
 

Resource (and annual financial 
contribution apportionment basis) 

2020/2021 
Total Cost 

2020/2021 Annual Cost 
Apportionment 

  RCT CBC MTCBC BCBC 

1 x Gr5 Recruitment officer 
(apportioned based on No. of enquires 19/20)                            

£32,178 £15,091 £3,057 £14,030 

1 x Gr9 Marketing Officer 
(apportioned equally between the Authorities) 

£38,858 £12,953 £12,952 £12,953 

Contact Centre (Call Handling) 
(apportioned based on No. of enquiries 19/20) 

£2,500 £1,170 £240 £1,090 

Total Contribution £73,536 £29,214 £16,249 £28,073 

Page 99



 
5.3    It is proposed that any shared costs such as ICT and Regional Marketing costs will 

be shared equally between each Local Authority. 
 
5.4 It is proposed that any direct costs associated with recruitment, retention and 

marketing activity on a local level (ie. relating to local authorities own schemes) will 
be funded by each respective Local Authority. 

 
5.5 A memorandum of understanding is being developed between the three local 

authorities to formalise arrangements, including financial implications and 
governance of the project. 

 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

6.1  Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts will lead to long term improvements, with the overall aim of 
empowering the local community to become foster carers.  This will support longer term 
sufficiency of placements to best match our young people’s needs.  
 
No negative impacts have been identified.  
 

 
 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES      
DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET 

MEMBER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
 
 
 

Page 100



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No  

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT 

 

 

 

 
 
To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Direct Payments Scheme 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of the development of the Direct Payments Scheme and to advise 

cabinet of the hourly rate to be paid for the service provided for the financial year 2021-
22. 

 
 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Cabinet will be aware that the Community Care (Direct Payments) Act 1996 gave the 

Local Authority the power to make cash payments for Community Care directly to 
individuals who have been assessed as needing Community Care Services. 

 
2.2 From 1st November 2004, Local Authorities have had a duty to offer direct payments 

to all who are potentially eligible to receive them.  On 1st March 2005 this was extended 
to include all customers over 65. 

 
2.3 The legislation governing the use of Direct payments was incorporated into the Social 

Services & Wellbeing Act 2014 under part 4 of the act supported by the Care and 
Support (Direct Payments) (Wales) Regulations 2015 

 
2.4 Cabinet will be aware that as of 6th April 2019 the Workplace pension minimum 

employer contributions increased to 3%.  The rate for Direct Payments had to be 
increased to ensure compliance with this legislation. 

 
2.5 Cabinet will be aware that as of April 2020 People Plus is the voluntary organisation 

who will provide a Direct Payment Support Service to the customers of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough. 

 

Date Written March 2021 

Report Author Angela Edevane 

Service Area Social Services 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 24th March 2021 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6



2.6 From 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021, the cost of 1 hour of Direct Payment Service 
was £12.94. 

 
2.7 Cabinet will be aware that as of 1st April 2021 the National Living Wage will be 

increased to £8.91 per hour.  The rate for Direct Payments will have to be increased 
to ensure that the basic salary rate is compliant with this legislation. 

 

3.0 COST OF 1 HOUR OF DIRECT PAYMENT SERVICE 
 
Direct Payment Service (Adults & Children) 

  Cost of 
Element 

Cumulative 
Cost 

Basic Salary @ National Living Wage  8.91 8.91 

    

Direct Replacement Costs    

Sickness (3%)  0.27 9.18 

Insurance (3%)  0.27 9.44 

Holidays @ 5 weeks per annum  0.86 10.30 

Bank Holidays @ 8 days paid at time and a half  0.29 10.59 

Enhancement for Weekend Working  1.27 11.87 

    

Pension  0.36 12.22 

National Insurance  1.00 13.22 

    

Total Hourly Direct Payment Rate  £13.22 

Start Up Cost (one-off Payment)  £75.00 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The cost of the Direct Payments increased hourly rate has already been included in 

the Authority’s Medium Term Financial Plan and the Directorate’s approved budget for 
this service area. 

 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

5.1  

 

Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

1 of 5 0 of 5 4 of 5 

Page 104



3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are the use of Direct Payments provides citizens with more 
choice and control.  
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES      
DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET 

MEMBER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Community Care Direct 
Payments Act 

1996 Adult Services 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Annual Equality Report 2019/20
	Appendix 1

	4 Future Commitment to Delivering Shared Regional Education Advisory Services For Children And Young People With A Sensory Impairment
	Appendix 1

	5 National Fostering Framework - Regional Working
	6 Direct Payments Scheme

